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Welcome to AYA

"Your happiness, our business”

Welcome to the world of banking with

AYA where our customer are our only priority.
We value all our customers and take pride

in offering fast and reliable banking.
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Our Mission

To be the leading bank in Myanmar through pursuit
of excellence and long term sustainable growth for
the bank and its stakeholders.

9R5g5q03
DHI0305  Ga0dpdieomEs ahsE 800506005200509gp:
20R0Hea0dpdeomnt  meomionon  eomniadigpis

6qgRd §€weom § [Bp03:0005¢03 80050305 gpagesongedagod
[g5e08E¢6N 6g,6800E0H3[gd §500008E Goqepd

Corporate Values

«  We pursue our objectives with EXCELLENCE

*  We progress as a TEAM

*  We think and act in all HONESTY

*  We maintain INTEGRITY at all times

e We CARE for our customers, our colleagues and
the people we interact with

«  We always act with SINCERITY.
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Corporate Goals
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AYA Financial Group

#\ AYA Bank

Your

eqodined

Trusted Partner

Secure for Future

~\é, AYAtrust

1. For Customers
To achieve high level of customer satisfaction by:
a. providing honest, efficient and courteous
service
b. offering a full range of products and services
c. providing easy accessibility in terms of reach
and delivery channels
d. employing technology as the enabler for all
customer service endeavors

2. For the Community
To be a good corporate citizen and build long-
term sustainable and active engagement with the
community we serves

3. For Staff

To ensure a highly competent and dedicated
workforce by implementing transparent policies, and
fostering staff well-being and goodwill.

4. For Shareholders

To build sustained shareholder value through rapid
growth international standards of governance, risk
and compliance.
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Bl‘a nd p FOIrM iS@ * Your Trusted Partner

Your Trusted Partner is a declaration to our customers that:

“AYA Bank (Ayeyarwady Bank) is the bank of choice for anyone who is looking for fast, reliable, honest
banking relationships at a reasonable cost. AYA Bank offers the full range of retail and commercial banking
products and services and is in tune with domestic customs and international standards in its governance
and operations. For your long-term banking needs, AYA Bank is your trusted partner in Myanmar.”
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Corporate Profile

License:
Central Bank of Myanmar -Ma Ba Ba / P-223(7)2010.

AYA Bank (Ayeyarwady Bank) received a new
banking license from the Central Bank of Myanmar
on 2 July 2010 to operate as an investment and
development banking business and AYA Bank
commenced operations on 11 August 2010 with the
opening of the branch at the Nay Pyi Taw Registered
Office. The founder and main shareholder of AYA
Bank is U Zaw Zaw, a well-respected entrepreneur,
business leader and philanthropist of Myanmar
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with diversified business interests in agriculture,
construction, manufacturing and hospitality.

AYA Bank has always strived to achieve international
standards in its banking operations and it is
constantly improving its corporate governance, risk
management and compliance measures by adopting
global best practices. The bank has engaged experts
and consultants with broad industrial and international
experience, and continue to invest significantly in its
employees, systems and technology in order to build
a solid foundation to grow the business. It believes
the efforts will ensure sustainable long-term growth

and improve the returns of the stakeholders and the
lives of the people of Myanmar.

AYA Bank is the second largest private bank with
nationwide presence providing a full suite of
corporate, retail and commercial banking products
and solutions for both local and international
customers, through the extensive branch network
present in every state and division of the country.
Leveraging on technology and differentiated
customer service has been key to rapidly growing
the customer base. In less than 7 years, AYA Bank has
opened 220 branches and 348 ATMs countrywide

as of March 2016.

AYA Bank is the first bank in Myanmar to implement
Centralized Core Banking System, and continuously
strives to offer the best financial services and
products in the market. Extending beyond the
domestic banking services, AYA Bank is providing
International Banking Services to support Clients
to implement their projects and plans. Customer
support for the bank’s brand and reputation is
especially reflected by the growth in non-bank
customer deposits reaching over Kyats 2.75 Trillion
as of March 2016.

For the immediate future, the Bank will continue
to extend its reach throughout Myanmar, establish
relationships with new customers and foreign
partners, and strengthen the Bank’s capital and risk
management controls. The Bank will also emphasize
on improving our human capital, and foster a
corporate culture of innovation through technology
so as to provide new products and services for our
customers. As the process of banking sector reform
deepens in the banking industry, the Bank will be
well-placed to become the best bank in Myanmar.
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Awards

* Best Private Bank Myanmar 2013 By World Finance

* Best Private Bank Myanmar 2014 By World Finance

¢ Best Retail Bank Myanmar 2014 By World Finance

* Banker of the Year 2014 By Myanmar Times

* Fastest Growing Retail Bank Myanmar 2014, By Global Banking & Finance Review Awards 2014.

* Most Innovative Banking Services (AYA iBanking) Myanmar 2014, By Global Banking & Finance Review

Award 2014
- * Best Private Bank, Myanmar, 2015 By World Finance
A  Best Banking Group, Myanmar,2015 By World Finance
.’_#:, * Most Sustainable Bank, Myanmar,2015 By World Finance

pp— * Best Private Bank, Myanmar, 2016 By World Finance
« Best Banking Group, Myanmar, 2016 By World Finance
* Most Sustainable Bank, Myanmar, 2016 By World Finance.

T
e

No. of Employees as at 31 March 2016: 5534+ Staff
Ratio Male Employees to Female Employees:

4166 5534
40:60 42:58
0.8 0.6
22-26 22-30
35-40 33-45
Bank Overview
Loans to Deposits of Non-Bank Customers (%) ATM

44

103

2012 2013 2014 2015 = 2016 H2013 ®m2014 w2015 ©2016

Welcome to AYA

rn H H 4} H
Your happiness, our business Bank Overview ATM
Loans to Deposits of Non-Bank Customers (%) 2013 44
68.3% (31st March 2012) 2014 103
68.5% (31st March 2013) 2015 218
59.08% (31st March 2014) 2016 348

62.68% (31st March 2015)
60.74% (31st March 2016)




Mingalarbar from your trusted partner, AYA Bank! AYA Bank
has continued to move forward with perseverance during
the period of 2015-2016. In this ever developing world, our
AYA Bank is marching with both velocity and might. Being
the first bank in Myanmar to implement Centralized Core
Banking System in 2013 and rapidly opening branches all
over the country allowed AYA Bank to become the fastest
growing bank in the country. Our Bank has started Myan-
mar’s first AYA iBanking Service and introduced you, our
distinguished customers, to World Travel VISA card and
most recently AYA Visa Credit Cards aiming for financial
inclusion, in cooperation with VISA International.

As the capital market is being developed in the country,
AYA Bank is initiating the process to register as a public
company with a view to eventually list on the Myanmar
Stock Exchange. Thus, all Myanmar citizens will have the
opportunity to becomes shareholders in our bank. At the
end of March 31st 2016, AYA Bank has 150 branches and to-
tal deposits of 1.88 trillion MMK. We are proud and honored
to receive the “Best Private Bank in Myanmar” award from
by World Finance in 2013, the “Banker of the Year 2014”
by Myanmar Times in the whole country review in 2014,
the “Fastest Growing Retail Bank in Myanmar 2014” award
by Global Banking and Finance Review (UK) Awards 2014,
the “Best Retail Bank in Myanmar 2014” and the “Best Pri-
vate Bank in Myanmar 2014” awards all by World Finance.
“Best Private Bank in Myanmar 2015” awards by World Fi-
nance, “ Best Banking Group in Myanmar 2015” awards by
World Finance, “ Most Sustainable Bank in Myanmar 2015”
awards by World Finance, “Best Private Bank in Myanmar
2016” awards by World Finance “Best Banking Group in
Myanmar 2016” by World Finance and “Most Sustainable
Bank in Myanmar 2016” by World Finance.

We commit ourselves to provide the security and the high-
est quality of service in line with our motto of "the Trust-
ed Partner to our customers” who have been confidently
working with us all the time. We believe that our Bank’s
success and that of our customers are intertwined there-
fore, our banking operations prioritize, first and foremost,
the benefit of our valued customers.
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We the
transparency for the success of all our partners. Therefore,

understand importance of integrity and
we would like to inform you that, in spite of our Bank’s
rapid rate of development, at the time of making decisions,
we will do so with great care and discipline. Accordingly,
we have achieved the unigue milestone of becoming the
first local entity in Myanmar to become fully compliant with
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Once again this is a voluntary step which will, we believe,

the international Financial

show the way for the rest of the industry. IFRS adoption
is no easy undertaking, but it is absolutely essential
in integrating with the regional and internal financial
markets. The standards of transparency, disclosure and
representations in these 2015-2016 Financial Statements
adhere to the same standards as any international financial
institution. We hope that IFRS adoption will soon become
the industry standard rather than the exception today,
and, that continuous efforts to exceed the expectations
will help build long-lasting trust and relationship with our
partners and customers.

Continuous trainings are being provided to the staff in AYA
Bank to build their capacity and to upgrade their skills. The
new recruits are given theoretical and practical exercise
on banking knowledge and operations by the experienced
industry experts invited from outside at our Bank’s train-
ing centers before they practically begin their work. For
the future, AYA Bank plans to establish a socio-economic
program to develop a Banking and Finance Institute as a
center of excellence in Myanmar. AYA Bank is focused at
the development of human resources by providing training
and job opportunities to the youth in the country and 5242
staff are employed as at March 31st 2016.

In conclusion, | would like to express my gratitude and
appreciation to the Board of Directors, employees, advi-
sors and partners. Without their help and contribution, we
would never have achieved our expectations for AYA Bank
to become a leading service-provider in Myanmar. | am
sure that consistent combining of all our efforts, we will
surely soar to our true potential. Wishing you have in the
best of health, wealth and spirit.
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U Zaw Zaw is the founder and Executive Chairman of AYA Bank, a role that
he has held since the inception of the Bank in 2010. He is an established
and well - connected entrepreneur and business leader in Myanmar, with 20
years of management experience. U Zaw Zaw graduated from the Universi-
ty of Yangon in 1988 with a major in Mathematics and worked in Japan for
several years. He returned to Myanmar in 1995 and managed Max Myanmar
Company, which is now known as Max Myanmar Group of Companies, a ma-
jor conglomerate.

U Zaw Zaw has been also the Chairman of the Myanmar Football Federation
(MFF) since 2005 and is a firm believer of contributing to the society and
helping the needy. Through the Ayeyarwady Foundation, he has supported
various philanthropic causes including the Yankin Children’s Hospital, and
numerous corporate social responsibility activities. He has also donated
generously for the development of soccer in Myanmar.
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Daw Htay Htay Khine has been the Vice-Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors since the Bank’s inception in 2010. Daw Htay Htay Khine, who holds a
Bachelor of Science in Mathematics awarded by the University of Yangon,
also plays an active role as a Vice-Chairperson with the Myanmar Women
Football Association and as a Trustee with the Myanmar Women Sports As-
sociation.
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U Khin Maung started out as the Managing Director of AYA Bank since its
inception in July 2010 and handed over his duties to U Than Zaw in May 2011,
He has since also served as a Senior Consultant to the Bank. In July 2013, he
was appointed as a Director and Vice-Chairman to the Board.

U Khin Maung’s wealth of banking experience spans over 51 years. He had
held various key positions in the State Commercial Bank and Myanmar Eco-
nomic Bank before moving on to Myanmar Investment and Commercial
Bank( MICB) . U Khin Maung worked in MICB for eight years and last held
the position of Managing Director , before moving on to Myanmar Mayflower
Bank in the same role . U Khin Maung’s illustrious resume also included act-
ing at the Chairman for the Board of Management and the Credit Commit-
tee in MICB and as a Board Member for the Foreign Exchange Management
Board and the Coordination Committee in the Central Bank of Myanmar. He
is also a Board Member for the Loan Committee in the Ministry of Finance
and Revenue.
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U Than Zaw served as the Managing Director to AYA Bank from 2011 to
2013. During his tenure, he was successful to grow the Bank’s brand and net-
work across Myanmar. He is currently engaged as the Vice Chairman at an
Ayeyar Myanmar Insurance Company and remains as an Executive Director
of the Bank. U ThanZaw’s vast experience includes eight-year tenure with
the Myanmar Olympic Committee as a Treasurer and another two years as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Myanmar Football Federation.
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Daw Khin Ma Ma was appointed as the Deputy Managing Director of AYA Bank in 2012 and as
an Executive Director of the Board in 2013. Daw Khin Ma Ma brings a wealth of experience
gained through her 17 years of career within the service industry. Her dedication for delivering
quality service has ensured that all branches offer the highest, quality of service and adhere to
strongest standards. She is also overseeing all human resources matters providing guidance for
the capacity building of the staff.
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Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet was appointed as an Independent Non-Execu-
tive Director with AYA Bank in 2013, offering advice in areas of Management,
Human Resources and the Bank’s Corporate Social Responsibility activities.
Professor Dr.Aung Tun Thet is a distinguished International and National
Civil Servant who has served in the United Nations as well as the Myanmar
civil service. He is currently a visiting Professor at the Yangon Institute of
Economics and Yangon University. He acts as a management consultant in
areas of Management, Leadership, Human Resources, Organizational Devel-
opment and Corporate Governance for various companies. He is also an
advisor for the Government sector, for the business community and the civil
society. Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet is a leading advocate of Corporate So-
cial Responsibility (CSR) in Myanmar.
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U Min Sein was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
AYA Bank in 2013. He is an accomplished lawyer who is an Advocate of the
Supreme Court, a Certified Public Accountant and has been practicing law
since 1972. He is the Managing Partner of U Min Sein Law Firm (Yangon),
a member of Asia Law Alliance, in association with Christopher Bridges
(Singapore). Within his illustrious Curriculum Vitae, he has served as legal
advisor to the ltalian Thai Public Company, the Embassy of the Republic of
France, World Vision, Myanmar Brewery Company Limited, Toyota Tsusho
Company Limited, Myanmar Tan Chong Company Limited .U Min Sein is also
currently a Director of The Myanmar Consolidated Media Company Limited
(The Myanmar Times). He is also a member of the Australia-Myanmar
Chamber of Commerce, a member of West Indochina Consultants, and an
associate of Strohal Associates.

As part of his contribution to the society, U Min Sein served as a lecturer
in Commercial Law at the Auditor General’'s Office for twenty years. He is
a Founding Member and Management Committee Member of U Hla Tun
Hospice, a charitable organization in Yangon.
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Dr Tin Latt was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
AYA Bank in 2013. He is a FCCA, FCMA, CGMA, CIA,ISCA, and CPA qualified
professional with more than 20 years of experience. He is Founder and Man-
aging Director of Management and Accountancy Training Ltd and Managing
Partner of MAT Audit and Professional Services which is provisional member
of RSM International Network providing Governance, Risk and Business Ad-
visory, and Auditing services.

Dr Tin Latt is working as a visiting lecturer for CPA classes organized by
Myanmar Accountancy Council and is taking roles as Vice Chairman of Myan-
mar Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), Executives Council
Member of Union of Myanmar Federation of Chambers of Commerce and
Industry (UMFCCI) and Executive Council Member of Myanmar Accountan-
cy Council (MAC)
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Mr. Azimuddin was appointed as CFO and Advisor to the Chairman of
Ayeyarwady Bank in 2014. He is a senior international banker, private eg-
uity principal invertor and operating partner with 30+ years of diversified
international experience mostly with Citigroup, HSBC, Societe General. 20+
years at the Board /CEO/MD/CFO level. Successful track record of starting,
restructuring and turning around financial services as well as manufacturing
business, and of taking them through Rating and Capital Market Issuance
processes. Leadership role on multiple bank transformation, systems archi-
tecture and implementation projects. Since 2002 led major due diligenc-
es including 6 investments, 6 business transformation & restructuring and
4 successful exits across the Financial Services, diversified Manufacturing
and IT industries in North America, Africa and Asia. Developed Multi-cultur-
al, multi-disciplinary operating teams in the Middle East, North Africa, and
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South and South East Asia. Approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange for
Directorship of listed companies; and, Member Singapore Institute of Direc-
tors.
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Mr. Moo Sun was appointed as the Chief Operation Officer of AYA Bank in
December 2010. Having 30 years of service in the banking industry, Mr. Moo
Sun is an experienced banker with considerable exposure in various facets
of retail and commercial banking. He began his career in Malaysia and has
also worked in Vietnam and Cambodia.

Mr. Moo Sun currently guides AYA Bank’s operations and spearheads the
international banking business unit of the Bank.
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Mr. Vincent Tan Cheh Soon was appointed as a Director (Advanced Banking
Development Department) of AYA Bank in 2013 and is in-charge of building
the card business as an integral part of the core business of the Bank.

Mr. Vincent Tan has more than thirty years of relevant working experience
in the credit card and payment solution industry with extensive knowledge
of both issuance and acquiring business. He has also held several leadership
roles in marketing, portfolio management, product development, customer
analytics, customer acquisition, loyalty programs and merchant acquisition,
as well as Head of Unsecured Loans at DBS Bank Singapore. His last posi-
tion at DBS Bank was Managing Director and Head of Cards and Unsecured
Loans.

Mr. Vincent Tan Cheh Soon
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U Ko Ko Oo was appointed as the Deputy Managing Director of AYA Bank
in 2014. Previously, he was a General Manager since the bank earned its
banking license from the Central Bank of Myanmar in 2010. He has extensive
working experience of strategic studies and International Relations. He has
been working in General Management for over 15 years in various capacities
and is currently leading the aggressive Branch Expansion Program of the
Bank.
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U Minn Wint Oo is the Deputy Managing Director and Chief Technology Of-
ficer at AYA Bank. He is a tech-savvy person who is always up-to-date with
the trending technology. He is a strategic planner and the main driving force
for the bank’s whole IT system and infrastructure, including, but not limited
to, Data Centers, Network Architecture, Software Development and Infor-
mation Security. He aligns business goals with IT goals and ensures effective
oversight and governance of technology. He has been exposed to the full
range of IT projects and functions within Myanmar Banking Industry. For
over 20 years, he has continuously contributed to enable Myanmar to make
transformational changes. He also works as the vice-chairman of Myanmar
Payment Union which is the only national payment switch in Myanmar. He
also consults Yangon Payment Services to implement the certificate author-
ity for the public transport payment system.
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“David started his career with AYA Bank back in 2010; he was part of the pioneer team when
AYA Bank was first established. He played a key role in establishing correspondent banking
relationship with financial institutions. Subsequently he developed a career in private equity
where he worked as an investment manager for a Singapore based private equity firm special-
izing in growth capital and mezzanine financing to companies in Southeast Asia and China.
David also had experiences with Deloitte Singapore M&A Transaction Services where he was
involved in advising cross border merger and acquisition deals in South East Asia.

Currently, David oversees the AYA Corporate and Transactional Banking Division where he leads
a team of relationship managers who advises both local and international clients and institu-
tions on financial solutions covering products areas such as Trade Finance, Cash Management,
Treasury and Loans for Myanmar market. Concurrently, he also heads AYAtrust Securities Com-
pany which is the securities and investment banking arm of AYA Financial Group. David re-
ceived his Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Business Administration from University of London.”
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May Myat Thu is a Deputy Managing Director of AYA Bank, overseeing the
Human Resources Department of the Bank . She has been with the Bank since
May 2012 after she returned from Singapore. May Myat Thu holds a Bachelor
of Science (Honors) degree in Economics and Management, awarded by the
London School of Economics and Political Science.

During her tenure with the Bank, she was also assigned to temporarily head
the insurance arm of the Financial Group, AYA Myanmar Insurance as an
MD for (6) months. May initiated the Bank’s membership to United Nations
Global Compact and has been an active steering person for AYA Financial
Group’s CSR activities.
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Daw May Myat Thu
Myanmar
Deputy Managing Director
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Learning and Development
Department

In accordance with our AYA Bank’s learning strat-
egy, the training unit had been attached to Human
Resources Department until late 2014 and later that
year it has been restructured as a separate depart-
ment as Learning and Development Department in
October 2014.

Based on rapid expansion of AYA bank, Learning
and Development Department is responsible for the
development of qualified employees who can han-
dle banking operation very well. Moreover, different
training programs such as technical trainings and ca-
reer development trainings are delivered to respec-
tive staffs based on their needs.
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2015-2016

86pocBoadEl 20ELpGEEEUMYUNG JOOG 9563200 G
oyéoollopiea 5530005 cngbimimaqlimlgb 8oeS3eaErs
$C 03005000:3[88 GE:58650C:38: joog 9581 a3 0m00RE
eIgopd:d  [g§copde[plicdmffiog  cpgbiemizaqCimngd
& Breqest ecpogantlomeqirsalgd Befepionpb§ oot

nhepded: op8qodSaqlaSen 0B .condaopdancgad ooad
006c§20005005603 ogiésoen 680xEQ0S8Eaam 2aqpaagC:d
o8cobgp: O3igraneoas pgdisnisrgtisngdd Beesisé e
oy&oo€lopieapgrsm 0mn0§opcooopdn adme[gE 0§codsgpzel
B3205105qp2320305 $p5:0po000800§sqpes € 30005 egr08:oPE:S
aB8epoofonSigp: 00pd[g  coConfimapdpododcopd:  0oad
eepadlop8Eas 8deoiaobi

Training Centers

To look back into the history, basic banking training
batch-1 and 2 were took place at Yangon Branch-1
(Ba Yint Naung), and batch-3 to 9 was conducted
at Yangon Branch-2 (Bo Aung Kyaw). Starting from
batch-11 until 51, most of the basic banking trainings
were taken in Pin Loan Training Center and some of
them were run at Mandalay Branches according to
the operational needs during that period. In Janu-
ary 2015, Hlaing Thar Yar training center was opened
and banking simulation session has been implement-
ed to replace the OJT training style. Banking simula-
tion room is set up like a real small banking area, and
the objective of banking simulation course is aiming
that student can get both theoretical and practical
experience at the same time. Meanwhile, Pin Loan
Training Center was closed for renovation and it has
been operated again since basic banking batch-83
and other special trainings for promotion assess-
ments.
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Training Programs

Training programs are categorized based on training
needs analysis, including regular training program,
refresher training program and career development
training program. Training plans are designed year-
ly established on vision of organization and depart-
mental needs.

Basic banking training, Supervisory training and
Management training are under the category of Reg-
ular training program. Refresher training programs
are conducted at the time of new product launching,
or adding new features and benefits of or changing
SOP of the existing products. Respective depart-
ments usually deliver necessary trainings to select-
ed and targeted group of employee. Moreover, Ca-
reer development training can be divided into two
groups; local and international, and all of them are
external trainings for enhancing the capacity of our
people. Additionally, talks and seminar are organized
frequently and AYA Talk is famous one within the en-
tire program.
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Training Record

Policy ( 1-AYA-LND) Procedure (2-AYA-LND) Forms/Documents (3-AYA-LND)
Regular Training Programs which all are organized from 2010 to 2016 is as follows; Orientation Policy Orientation Procedure O-001-Orientation Attendance Form
Training Planning Policy Training Planning Procedure T-001-Individual TNA Form
Entry Super Managerial Branch In-charge | Special Program T-002-Departmental TNA Form
Year Total No. of Total No. of Total No. of Total No. of Total No. of T-003-Quarterly Training Plan
Batch Trainees Batch Trainees Batch Trainees Batch Trainees Batch Trainees T-004-Yearly Training Plan
Opened Opened Opened Opened Opened L.
T-005-Training Request Form
2010 6 412 T-006-Flexible Working Hour Request Form
20m S 182 Training Program Policy Training Program Procedure T-007-Training Schedule Format
2012 8 321 1 8 1 8 T-008-Course Outline Format
2013 N 559 2 57 1 16 T-009-Course Coding
2014 20 1126 3 85 2 41 Training Evaluation Policy Training Evaluation Procedure T-010-Evaluation Form A
2015 14 1097 7 204 6 199 T-OT1-Evaluation Form B
2016 14 1256 2 61 4 129 4 290 Training Examination Policy | Training Examination Procedure T-012-Examination Question Form
78 4953 9 355 16 478 4 65 4 290 T-O13-Examination Answer Form

T-014-Standard Grading
T-015-Examination Result

Refresher Training Programs which all are organized from 2010 to 2016 is as follows; T-O16-Examination Rules and Regulation

Training Awarding Policy Training Awarding Procedure T-017-Certificate of Accomplishment
Refresher Program Career Development Program T-018-Certificate of Participation
Professional and T-019-Awarding Record
Year Manag:;n:;:t A e S =l O SEIHITED £ LS Training Center Management | Training Center Management Pro- | T-020-Inventory List
Total No. of Total No. of Total No. of Total No. of Total No. of Policy cedure T-021-Fixed Assets List ]
Batch Trainees Batch Trainees Batch Trainees Batch Trainees Batch Trainees T-022-Student Attendance List
Opened Opened Opened Opened Opened T-023-Employees Attendance List
2010 T-024-Duty Roster
20M T-025-Maintenance Record
2012 4 175 5 71 5 n 2 82 T-026-Employee Deployment Record
2013 5 110 15 202 3 12 17 680 T-027- Rules and Regulations
2014 29 1305 2 15 a1 132 11 43 1 55 Training Center Accommo- | Training Center Accommodation | T-028-Housing Allocation
dation Polic Procedure T-029-Rules and Regulations
2015 56 3003 7 381 67 259 20 58 1 42 Y 9
Library Policy Library Procedure T-030-Book List with coding
2016 57 3343 47 166 6 n 3 169 . .
T-031-Borrowing List
151 7936 9 496 175 830 45 135 24 2028 T-032-Rules and Regulations

Performance Management | Performance Management Proce- | P-O01-Performance Evaluation Form A
Policy dure P-002-Performance Evaluation Form B
P-003-Performance Evaluation Form C
P-004-Performance Evaluation Relationship Form

Reporting Policy Reporting Procedure R-001-Daily Report
R-002-Monthly Report
R-003-Fixed Assets Quarterly Report

Learning and Development Department aims to achieve capacity building and upkeep for developing qual-
ified branch operation staffs in accordance with the rapid expansion by building remarkable milestones
yearly.
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Policies and Procedures for Training

Yearly training plan is organized and implemented
accordingly and each department can request
the required trainings by their own need-based
assessment. Training requisition forms will be used
for ad-hoc training as well. The following policies and
procedures are executed for better management
system at training centers and within department.
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Training Methodology

All training courses are reviewed by respective de-
partment in 2015 and new and updated ones are
replaced for effective teaching. Well-trained train-
ers were recruited to build stronger training team.
Learning and Development Department has been
managed to get a pool of talented trainers for Learn-
ing and Development Department as in-house train-
ers starting form 2015, hence no in-house trainers at
AYA up to 2014. Manpower was increased from 10 in
2014 to 45 in 2017 and respective trainer teams are
formed for effective delivering. All technical trainers
are attached with respective departments for updat-
ed information and other necessary actions.

Both theoretical and practical teachings are imple-
mented using different teaching methodologies. It
was moved from face-to-face (classroom) learning
to e-learning by using Intranet and Internet. Not only
textbook theories, but also activity based learning
and case studies are used in every training session
to enhance teaching methodologies. Moreover, train-
the-trainer courses for trainers have been arranged
time by time to enrich trainer’s capacity.
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Training Expenses

As training expenses, (118) mil MMK and (177) mil
MMK were used for 2015-16 FY and 2016-17 FY re-
spectively. As a projection, (250) mil MMK will be
used for the current 2017-18 FY as well.

In facts, AYA Bank seeks the opportunity to create
learning environment for every employee. On the
other hand, Learning and Development Department
is trying best to enhance capacity building within a
bank.
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BOARD MATTERS

The principal roles and responsibilities of the Board
include:

 setting the corporate direction and strategic
aims, ensuring that the necessary financial and
human resources are in place for the Bank to
meet its objectives;

¢ reviewing management performance;

¢ establishing a framework of prudent and effec-
tive controls which enables risk to be assessed
and managed; and

¢ balancing the interests of its diverse stakehold-
ers, including its customers, shareholders, em-
ployees, the Myanmar government, the Central
Bank of Myanmar and local communities.

¢ The Board of Directors meets at least 6 times a
year, and at any meeting, at least 6 out 9 Direc-
tors must be present. Attendance records are
kept for all Board meetings.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

There are 9 Directors on the Board of Directors,
these include the Executive Chairman U Zaw Zaw,
the Managing Director , 4 other Executive Directors
and 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors. As the
Bank continue to progress and the pool of available
talent in Myanmar grows, the bank intends to fur-
ther improve the objectivity and independence of
the Board. A Director is considered independent if
she/he is not engaged in management and business
relationship with the Bank and is not a shareholder
of the Bank.

The Board currently has three Independent Non-Ex-
ecutive Directors who have strengths in different
areas, such as Human Resource Management ex-
pert, Professor Dr.Aung Tun Thet, Finance and Risk
Management expert, Dr. Tin Latt, and Legal expert,
U Min Sein. Their vast experience and diverse exper-
tise helps to enrich the knowledge of the Board.
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THE EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN’S ROLE

Guided by the Board'’s strategic objectives, the Exec-
utive Chairman will articulate the corporate direction
set by the Board. The Executive Chairman provides
guidance on the strategic action plans for business
development while at the same time ensuring ade-
quate and effective risk management controls are
in place. The Executive Chairman takes a leadership
to ensure implementation of corporate governance,
transparency and proper delegation of duties. He is
a motivator and leads the Bank in communicating
and demonstrating the Bank’s corporate values.
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THE MANAGING DIRECTOR’S ROLE

The Managing Director is responsible for implement-
ing and monitoring the Bank’s strategic action plans
in a cost-effective and efficient manner. He oversees
day-to-day operations and is directly responsible for
raising the profitability and profile of the Bank and
ensuring that effective risk management and opera-
tional controls are implemented at the ground level.
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ACCESS TO INFORMATION

All Directors have unfettered access to information
and the Management. They receive timely and de-
tailed management reports and any additional infor-
mation as needed, to facilitate informed discussions
and decision-making. Discussions and views con-
veyed during Board and Committee meetings, are
consistently recorded in meeting minutes and circu-
lated amongst management.

Directors also have access to the Corporate Af-
fairs Department who assist them in the discharge
of their duties. The Corporate Affairs Department
advises the Board on regulatory changes and best
practices in corporate governance, and ensures that
board procedures and applicable regulations are
complied with. The Corporate Affairs Department
also facilitates communications between the Board
and Management, and organizes the induction of
new Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet chairs the Nomination
Committee, which consists of 3 Directors. The main
responsibility of the Nomination Committee is to:
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Recommend the appointment, re-election or re-ap-
pointment of Directors;

assess the performance of the Board, Board commit-
tees and each Directors; and

review the size and composition of the Board and
Board Committees.

The Nomination Committee uses various criteria,
such as a Director’s attendance record, relevance of
skills and experience, candor and clarity in commu-
nication, strategic insight and business judgement,
to assess the performance of each Director and her/
his contribution to the Board’s effectiveness. Nomi-
nation Committee members recuse themselves from
the evaluation on her/his performance.

The Nomination Committee’s evaluation of the
Board Committees take into account whether the
Board Committees have discharged their duties and
satisfactorily performed the tasks delegated by the
Board. In assessing the effectiveness of the Board
as a whole, the Nomination Committee uses qualita-
tive and quantitative criteria including the strategic
directions given, quality of oversight of risk manage-
ment processes and internal controls, and the Bank’s
overall performance, among others.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet chairs the Remunera-
tion Committee, which consists of 3 Directors. The
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee in-
clude:

ensuring that the Bank’s remuneration framework is

aligned with the market, applicable laws, regulations

and guidelines;

¢ determining remuneration in line with the stra-
tegic objectives of the Bank and appropriate to
attract, retain and motivate Directors and senior
executives;

¢ recommending fees for Directors and reviewing
the remuneration of senior executives; and,
¢« administering employee incentive programs that

encourage long-term employee commitment
and organizational performance.
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Audit Risk and Compliance Committee

Dr. Tin Latt chairs the Audit Risk and Compliance
Committee (ARCC), which consists of 3 Directors.
The Committee meets at least once in every three
months as well as whenever convened by the Board.

The ARCC

* Reviews the bank’s financial statements, internal
and external audit plans and audit reports;

e inspects the adequacy and effectiveness of in-
ternal accounting, risk management and compli-
ance controls to mitigate risks;

e monitors the Bank’s adherence to applicable
laws and regulations;

e assesses the quality and any significant change
in, regulations, policies or practices;

« oversees the effectiveness and quality of the
work by Internal Audit Department;

e monitors the sufficiency and quality of the risk
management resources; and

* reviews the cost-effectiveness, independence
and objectivity of external auditors and approves
the engagement of external auditors.
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External Auditor

The external auditors are responsible for providing
their opinion to the Central Bank of Myanmar and
the Board of Directors as to whether the Bank’s fi-
nancial statements adequately reflect the financial
position of the Bank and its solvency. The external
auditors have a duty to inform the Board Directors
of any irregularities and deficiencies observed in the
operations and accounts, which could result in ma-
terial losses for the Bank. The Audit Risk and Com-
pliance Committee meets the external auditors inde-
pendent of the internal auditors and Management.
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Internal Audit Department

The Internal Audit Department function is to provide
independent assurance to the Management and
stakeholderwithregardstothe Bank’sinternal control,
risk management and governance. The Internal Audit
Department reports to the Audit Committee which is
headed by an Independent Non Executive Director.
The Internal Audit Department consists of 46 staff
and perform audit in accordance to the international
auditing standards and guidelines. A risk assessment
exercise is carried out every year to identify key risks
areas of the bank and an audit plan is developed
in accordance to the risk area identified. As part
of the internal control framework, branches which
are operational for at least 3 months are audited to
ensure they are in line with the banking operations
processes and internal controls are in place.
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Year ending

Description 31 March 2016
(Million MMK)
CAPITAL
Core Capital (Equity Capital)
(a) Issued & Paid-up capital 85,000.0
(b) Reserves 13,795 .3
©) Retained Profits 165.7
Less: Goodwill
Less: Accumulated Losses
Total A 98,961.0
RISK ASSETS (WEIGHTED)
(a Loans & Advances 835,598.9
(b) Due from Banks 38,0041
©) Cheques, Bills and all 24.2
Receivables
(d) Fixed Assets 46,661.9
e Other Assets 53,357.6
(Excluding Claims on Gov-
ernment, Government
Departments and State-
owned Enterprise
Total B 973,646,7
10.16%

CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO (=A/B%)

Year ending
31 March 2015

(Million MMK)

55,000.0
9,825 1
76 .8

64,901.8

516,196.8
9,367

75

23,568.18

32,050.29

581,257.28
11.17%

Year ending

Year ending

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

(Million MMK)

50,000
6,434
60

56,494.68

264,744

11,084

810

6,979.36

60,353.91

343,972.54
16.42%

(Million MMK)

50,000
2,432
54

52,487.13

135,595
1,631

222

4,924.72

30,463.52

172,836.93
30.37%
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—nterprise Risk Management

sggsaoé:o@c%qb 20280508 Cafg 8&9%@3{

AYA Bank recognizes that an effective risk manage-
ment system must be in place to mitigate various
risks to the bank operations. AYA Bank adopts the
risk management policy to affirm its awareness of
the need to establish a program for Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM). The Board further commits to
providing sufficient personnel and other resources
to ensure full implementation of an enterprise risk
management program.

AYA Bank will maintain an Enterprise Risk Manage-
ment policy and framework to coordinate the many
aspects of risk. ERM policy does not replace any ex-
isting risk and compliance program, but serves to
provide a cohesive umbrella for all of the risk man-
agement programs currently in place.
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Compliance Risk Management

A major part of the Compliance Risk Management
is the strict adherence to Anti-Money Laundering
(AML) and Know-Your-Customer (KYC) regulations
and the consistent move to implement industry best
practices. Ayeyarwady Bank complies with the An-
ti-Money Laundering Law No.11/2014 and the Control
of Money Laundering Law No0.6/2002, and all reg-
ulations of the Central Bank of Myanmar. The Bank
has also adopted the recommendations of the Fi-
nancial Action Task Force (FATF). The Bank’s An-
ti-Money Laundering/Combating the Financing of
Terrorism (AML/CFT) Policy established governing
principles and procedures to protect the Bank from
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being used or implicated in money laundering or ter-
rorist financing activities. The Bank has also adopted
the KYC Policy, and implemented the “Reporting of
Suspicious Transaction” system and proper record
keeping.

All Ayeyarwady Bank employees, wherever located,
must be vigilant in the fight against money laun-
dering and must not allow Ayeyarwady Bank to
be used for money laundering activities.
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Know Your Customer Policy

It is imperative to have in place adequate policies,
practices and procedures that promote high ethical
and professional standards to prevent our bank
from being used, intentionally or unintentionally, by
criminal elements. The three key principles founded
on the “Know Your Customer"” policy, which would

@ AYA Bank
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undermine the success of criminals are:
e Customer Acceptance Policy

* Enhance Due Diligence Measures for Higher Risk
Customers

e On-Going Monitoring of High Risk Transactions
and Accounts
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Customer Due Diligence Measures

The Bank shall take customer due diligence mea-
sures, including the identification of their custom-
ers and the verification of their customers' identity
and obtaining information on the purpose and in-
tended nature of the business relationship. The Bank
shall comply with all the laws and regulations of Cen-
tral Bank of Myanmar and where possible adopt the
recommendations of FATF.

Compliance Officer’s Roles and Responsibilities

e Screening for suspicious transactions. Receive,
collect, analyze and assess all suspicious trans-
actions.

e Compile and report statistics and records to
Management.

e To register suspicious persons lists (people,
organization, companies) occasionally request-
ed by CBM and FIU and check against existing
customers’ information once a month.

« Checking internal compliance condition of AML/
CFT policies and procedures.

e Conduct due diligence on suspicious transac-
tions.
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* Maintain records of AML/CFT.

¢ Remind the staffs to keep confidential on
customers’ information and AML/CFT report-
ing as well.

¢ To provide training and enhance knowledge as
appropriate to always keep awareness in their re-
spective fields as regards AML/CFT.
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Training

AYA Bank is giving the AML/CFT awareness briefing
covered at induction course for new staff joining at
the Bank. And, specific training provided at least
one a year, to relevant staff that is responsible to
implement the KYC policy. AML/CFT related general
training including changes in law, regulation and
procedures provided to staff once a year.
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Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC)

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC)
is a Board level committee and is responsible for
providing assistance to the Board of Directors in
fulfilling their responsibility to the shareholders and
investment community related to corporate ac-
counting, reporting practices, the quality and integ-
rity of financial reports, and the quality and effective
administration of the controls and procedures of all
systems and work processes. To formulate policies
relating to risk management that are consistent with
the strategic direction and overall risk appetite as set
by the BOD. To ensure that the senior management
operate within the risk tolerance limits set and to
recommend changes as and when appropriate in line
with any significant changes in internal and external
environment. Monitor and regular review of the ef-
fectiveness of Risk Management Policy.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC)
was established by the Board of Directors vide their
resolution dated on 4th April’ 2014. The purpose of
the Committee is to review and monitor the effec-
tiveness of the Bank’s controls in the areas of inter-

nal and external audit functions, operational and fi-
nancial risks, legal and regulatory compliance and
financial reporting. The Committee will consult with,
give advice to, and report to the Board on all relevant
matters and the decisions of the Board shall be final.

Authority

¢ To obtain information from, and access to, man-
agement.

¢ To appoint and direct Internal and External Au-
ditors.

¢ To consult directly with internal and external au-
ditors.

¢ To meet independently of management, with in-
ternal or external auditors if required.

¢ To obtain independent advice matters relating to

the business and management of the bank as it
deems appropriate
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Role & Responsibilities
The role of the ARCC is to:

« oversee the adequacy of the controls established
by senior management;

e identify and manage areas of potential risk and
to safeguard the assets of the Bank and its share-
holders;

« oversee the integrity of the Bank’s financial and
prudential reporting;

 oversee the appointment and performance of
the Bank’s internal and external audit functions
generally, including the independence of the ex-
ternal auditor; and

e evaluate the process in place to ensure that ac-
counting records are properly maintained in
accordance with statutory requirements and fi-
nancial information provided to the regulators,
shareholders and the Board is accurate and con-
sistent.
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Enterprise Risk Management Department’s
Responsibilities

* review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Bank’s risk management framework (as identi-
fied in the Bank’'s Risk Management Policy)

e assess whether the right risks have been identi-
fied and are appropriately managed

* gain an understanding of the current areas of
greatest risk (financial and non-financial ) and
review these areas on a regular basis

* obtain regular updates from management, the
Bank's legal counsel, auditors and any external
parties, as deemed appropriate, regarding audit,
financial reporting, risk management and com-
pliance matters

 review the adequacy of the Management Infor-
mation & Intelligence Systems for appropriate
management of the Bank’s customers, business-
es, risks and profitability

* periodically review the effectiveness of the
Compliance function , including the process
of monitoring for compliance with CBM laws
and regulations and the results of manage-
ment's investigations and follow-ups (including
disciplinary action) of any fraudulent acts or
non-compliance
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* review the findings of any examinations by regu-
latory agencies and any material correspondence
with such agencies

« ensure that there is a process in place for the
Chairman of the Board and the ARCC Chairman
& Secretary are immediately informed of any ma-
terial non-compliance matter or material litiga-
tion.
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Introduction

AYA Bank continue to focus on aggressive growth
strategy for all its preferred customer segments by
development of a +3 roadmap comprising of three
business and four operations strategic priorities in
2014-2015.
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Business Strategies

Channels Expansion with significant branch pres-
ence, widened e-channels and dedicated centers to
reach out and enhance customer relationshipsProd-
uct Innovation to meet the needs of target custom-
er groups for cash management and returns on idle
funds.
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Financing Opportunities
Developing customer centric programs to engage
and deepen business relationships with customers
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Operations Strategies

Human resource programs and activities to enhance
competencies in order to inculcate the spirit of
teamwork and promote loyalty within the workplace

Technology as core business enabler ensuring
maximum uptime, efficiency through automation
core processes and support for extensive multi
e-channel solutions.
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Banking operations activities focusing on a custom-
er-first view, an effective and efficient operations
under a controlled and standardized operating en-
vironment.
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Business Development Activities

The overarching business focus is to aggressively
grow liability based products, ensure quality assets
and to enhance fee based income. This is executed
through our three pronged strategy of channels
expansion, product Innovation and customer
centricity.

Activities and achievement for the reporting year

includes:

Channels expansion

«  Number of branches grew significantly from 126
to 150 and counting providing our clients with
greater accessibility in all states and divisions

Providing 24 hours service and easy access for
our clients with the launch of our mobile and in-
ternet banking.

« Enhance service features of our internet banking
service by providing corporate users with en-
hanced administrative control and the ability to
process bulk scheduled payments
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Product Innovation

Launch of our fully automated Cash Management
Services comprising collection, payments and liquid-
ity management services for corporate clients

Expansion of our hire purchase program to sectors

Introduction of import and export financing to sup-
port our clients in effective management of their
working capital requirements.
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Customer Centricity

To enhance our service level, we launched a
customer service program focused on improvements
in efficiency, care, professionalism, reliability and
convenience.

Alignment of business processes based on customer’s
first view.

Launch of our AYA Bank Royal Premier Banking to
support our most important clients with exceptional
service, lifestyle benefits and differentiated product
offering.
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Banking Operations and Enabling Activities

AYA Bank continues to focus on enhancing its core
activities to develop the human resource competen-
cies, leverage the technology capabilities and align
banking operations with business and control needs.
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Progress made in each of the above competencies
includes:

Banking Operations

Initiated the branch transformation program aimed
at enhancing and streamlining processes with busi-
ness workflows and physical requirements of the
branch

Review and documentation of business processes to
ensure standardized operating procedures
Instituted secondary controls as a way to strengthen
the overall control system
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Technology

Commissioning of the new Switches to provide cut-
ting edge capabilities including multi-channels man-
agement and customer relationship management
capabilities

Commissioning of the new tier 2, data center which
will provide high availability and redundancy

Annual Report
2015-2016

Establishment of monitoring and escalation systems
to ensure maximum uptime for all core applications
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Human Resources

Training efficacy was significantly improved through
establishment of the second fully functional training
center.

Continued recognition of staff performance and loy-
alty through internal promotions

Benefits scheme to promote loyalty, teamwork and
work place safety.
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Retail Strategy

AYA Bank has identified multiple opportunities in the
rapid acquisition of its customers. Myanmar’s current
population is in excess of 52 million, and +95%of cit-
izens are yet to participate in formal banking. These
individuals are significant to AYA Bank as they are all
future customers. AYA Bank understands the need
to educate the population in order to build trust and
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confidence around the AYA Bank brand, and the fi-
nancial industry as a whole.

A two prong strategy was adopted focusing on the
young students (who will be the future potential cus-
tomers) and working adults of the country. These are
the potentially customers who will have no barrier to
AYA’s banking services.

To capture the young customer segment who will be
future working individuals and consumer drivers in
this country, AYA Bank engages tertiary institutions
numbering more than 150 throughout the country.

Given that +60% of Myanmar’s population is below
35 years of age, this is the largest pipeline of cus-
tomers who will soon join the work force as well as
drive consumer spending.

Special card programs are tailored for tertiary stu-
dents to help them understand and subscribe to
simple and relevant banking services such as open-
ing of saving account linked to MPU Debit cards for
easy access to the bank. Numerous workshops and
sponsorships are organized to engage these stu-
dents with the support of these tertiary institutions’
administrations.

For the working adults, AYA Bank designed 4 in 1
retail product bundle offering the opening of a sav-
ings/current account, MPU Debit card, iBanking and
eBanking accounts. This 4 in 1 product has been of-
fered through road shows conducted at branches as
well as off-site at locations with high customer traf-
fic. Specialized sales teams also work closely with
relationship managers to focus on corporate cus-
tomers of the bank to tap their employees’ networks.
MPU Debit Cards, Visa & Master Card prepaid cards
and Visa Credit Cards are the bank’s “lead card prod-
ucts” for new customer acquisition. Once acquired,
bank staff cross sell and up sell other relevant retail
products, such as the opening of a savings/current
account, fixed deposits and easy access services
such as iBanking and eBanking for convenience.
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Operations Strategies

Enhance clients experience with a customer first and
relationship based approach

Improve cost efficiencies by focusing on expense
management covering staff, channels, process and
technology

Enhance productivity by focusing on contribution to
overall topline growth in terms of customers, prod-
ucts and revenue to staff ratio

Manage operation risks in probability and expect
loss through building of a risk culture, managing
probability of loss and firm corrective measures on
expect loss

Continuous improvement by creating a continuous
learning and improvement culture through good
governance and creating a learning and performance
based organization.
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BEYA,

Gift Cheque

Gift Cheque is a type of cheque for the purpose of
gift for birthdays, weddings and special occasions
instead giving in cash.
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iBanking Phase 2
a) Schedule Payment
Schedule payment is set up to transfer constant
cash flows to designated account.
b) Bulk Payment
Bulk payment facilitates disbursement of funds
to multiple recipients, useable for payroll for cor-
porate customers.
This ensures confidentiality as it is a straight
through processing.
c) Maker/ Checker Role
Customer can set up the role of person for mak-
ing transaction via iBanking or mBanking.
e Maker function - to create or initiate a trans-
action.
e Checker function - to approve or reject a
transaction
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d) Bill Payment
Customer can pay the bills to the Billing Organi-
zation that has an agreement with AYA Bank via
online.
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Western Union (Outbound)
Western Union Outbound is a secure form of over-
seas money transfer service.

Western Union ([gp50a3 chﬁeozt‘é@&)
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MPU Credit Card
AYA Credit Card is a platform to pay on credit for
goods and services in local areas and online.
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E-commerce
E-commerce is the online payment solution for mer-
chants that sell goods online.

E-commerce
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MONEY TRANSFER

Trust Receipt

The Bank provides short-term credit facilities for fi-
nancing to importers when a Letter of Credit (LC) or
collection is due for payment. A credit trade line is
required before this facility can be utilized.

Trust Receipt
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Pre and Post Shipment Financing

This is a short term financing facility extended to ex-
porters prior to shipment of goods. This facility en-
ables the exporter to enjoy pre-export financing for
the purchase of the goods provided that a firm order
is secured by the exporter. A credit trade line is re-
quired before this facility can be utilized.
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Cash Management Service

AYA provides a full suite of customized solutions to
help your cash flow. There are three types of Cash
Management Service:

a) Receivable Management
Receivable management is a solution to help
receive payment quickly and improve your cash
flow.

b) Payable Management
AYA offers timely and efficient payment solu-
tions to meet your business needs by delivering
an end-to-end payables management solution.

c) Liquidity Management
Liquidity Management improves and optimizes
your liquidity through automated sweeping of
funds. With AYA, customers’ liquidity needs are
carefully and efficiently managed through the
comprehensive account and liquidity manage-
ment solutions.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Ever since its establishment in 2010, AYA Bank has
played a leadership role in Corporate Social Respon-
sibilities (CSR) in the fields of Education, Health and
Social Sectors in partnership with the Ayeyarwady
Foundation founded by Chairman U Zaw Zaw on the
same yeatr.

With the aim to invest and support the future gener-
ations of Myanmar, AYA Bank, directly and through
Ayeyarwady Foundation, is mainly focused on imple-
menting its CSR activities in the areas of Education
and Health. AYA Bank also actively participates in the
areas of donating blood, initiating road safety cam-
paign, supporting and donating to victims of natural
disasters and renovation and rehabilitation process.

National development is integral to the bank’s ethos,
especially in order to maintain a sustainable future
within Myanmar. Thus, AYA Bank together with
Ayeyarwady Foundation aims to promote Human
Resources Capacity Building by granting individu-
als scholarships and subsidies within the health care,
and education sectors, donating educational equip-
ment to children, providing yearly scholarship to
primary/high school students, and even supporting
them through their journeys to finish University ed-
ucation.

Moreover, both the Bank and the Foundation have
been renovating old schools and building new
schools and extensions for existing schools across
the country. Through such support programs the
staff, students and parents are all motivated and
could better concentrate on learning as there are
new school buildings with well-built and equipped
classrooms.

AYA Bank and Ayeyarwady Foundation regularly
donate medicines, support medical assistance to
impoverished people and build medical facilities in-
cluding ambulances across the country.

The Foundation provides hospitals with physical
support, for example, through the procurement of
required medical equipment. It also offers monetary
support to those patients who are unable to afford
their own treatments.
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AYA BANK’S COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITY
As a leading bank in Myanmar, AYA Bank compre-
hends that the community plays an important role to
achieve sustainable growth. This is the reason why
the Bank consistently prioritizes community focused
initiatives. As a small example, AYA Bank’s prefers to
hire staff from within the local communities partic-
ularly for branches outside the main urban centers.
Many of the new hires often never had a bank ac-
count before joining AYA Bank, yet gradually, their
friends, family and community also start to bank
with AYA Bank.
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AYA BANK & THE UNITED NATIONS GLOBAL COM-
PACT INITIATIVE

Barely 3 years into its incorporation, in August 2012,
AYA Bank joined the United Nations Global Compact
of UNGC initiative. This was a corporate milestone
for AYA Bank, as it was the first Myanmar Bank to
commit to redesign the Bank’s business operations
and strategies in accordance with UNGC’s policies
regarding human rights, labor standards, the envi-
ronment and anti-corruption.

For the fiscal year 2015-2016, AYA Bank’s CSR efforts
were more geared towards educating and creating
awareness for being environmentally friendly and
socially responsible. One of our main initiatives was
the Awareness Program with the theme “Save Paper,
Save Trees, Save The Environment” for our internal
customers. Awareness stickers were shared across
Headquarters and branches of AYA Bank to educate
and remind our employees to decrease unnecessary
usage of papet, electricity and water.

Stickers were placed in visible areas and locations
where common use of office equipment are at and
also other areas such as Bathrooms, Toilets and
Doors. Another awareness program we embarked
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on was to educate and make aware on the impor-
tance of having separate bins for recyclable waste.
This program benefits both our internal customers
(employees), external customers (bank customers)
as well as other stakeholders (visitors, vendors, etc)
as separate bins for dumping of such waste have
been put across at both the Head office level and
our Yangon branches.

As another awareness initiative, AYA Bank orga-
nized a Seat Belt Campaign Movement for the gen-
eral public on 4th March to be responsible drivers
and citizens. Corporate Affairs Department initiated
the campaign and AYA Bank staff joined in effort to
distribute the Seat Belts and awareness stickers to
our Customers’ cars, and those of the general public
who have been commuting around Yangon city hall
area. This initiative was very well received.

AYA Bank’s objective in carrying out such
awareness programs is to also actively play a part
in the improvement of the country’s socio aspects
and not only proactively participate in economic
development.
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FLOOD IN MAGWE DIVISION

Myanmar is listed as the “most at risk” to natural di-
sasters in Asia Pacific by the United Nations as it is
exposed to various natural disasters, such as floods,
cyclones, earthquakes, etc. In October 2011, a heavy
flood hit Central Myanmar, in Magwe Division, more
than 3500 homes and 5400 acres of crops were de-
stroyed and over 30,000 people were affected. In
response, AYA Bank provided relief supplies as well
as cash donations to the victims at their temporary
shelters.
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FLOOD ACROSS MYANMAR

In August 2012, Myanmar was hit by floods across
a number of states. The flood displaced more than
80,000 people and affected more than 28,700 peo-
ple. Ayeyarwady Region was the worst hit, with
48,000 people displaced and 136,000 acres of farm-
land, houses, roads and bridges destroyed. Once
again, AYA Bank donated cash, food items and
goods for the victims.
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AYA BANK EXTENDS HELP TO VICTIMS OF INTER-
NAL CONFLICTS

AYA Bank values and respects all human lives. The
bank is aware that there are many innocent victims
of internal conflicts within Myanmar, such as the con-
flict in the Kachin State and the Rakhine State. Ex-
tending our assistance to these victims has become
one of the Bank’s priorities.
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THE CONFLICT IN RAKHINE STATE
The Rakhine State conflicts near the border of Ban-
gladesh had displaced more than 100,000 people
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since they started in June 2012. More than 4,000
houses were set ablaze during the riots. Managers
and volunteers from AYA Bank visited the temporary
displacement camps to offer cash donations as well
as medical supplies and dried food for the victims.
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THE KACHIN CONFLICT

Many civilian communities in the Kachin Region have
been adversely affected by the conflict among the
ethnic groups. The fighting has caused these civilian
to flee from their homes and take up accommoda-
tion in the temporary shelters set up by humanitar-
ian groups. Once again, through Ayeyarwady Foun-
dation, the Bank’s employees worked at the shelters
and donated much needed food in the camps.
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AYA BANK’S BLOOD DONATION DRIVE
AYA Bank's employees are proud donors, and
actively participate in the blood donation drive every
year. In March 2011, AYA Bank initiated its first Blood
Donation Drive at the Yankin Children’s Hospital.
Due to the overwhelming response, the 2nd Blood
Donation Drive, was organized soon afterward. In
September 2014, Ayeyarwady Bank held its 4th Blood
Donation Drive at the Mandalay General Hospital
where 122 staff donated blood. In September 2015,
Ayeyarwady Bank held its 5th Blood Donation Drive
at National Blood Center (Yangon) where 271 staff
donaed blood. And then 6th Blood Donation Drive
was held at National Blood Center (Yangon) on 11t
June 2016, where 317 staff donated blood.
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Full adoption of IFRS Compliance

AYA Bank is the first local institution in Myanmar to
adopt full compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), and to undergo an In-
ternational Standards of Auditing (ISA) compliant
audit.

The process started with the IFRS Readiness Gap
Analysis conducted by the Deloitte team from Sin-
gapore between October and December 2014. This
was followed by the appointment of and audited by
Myanmar Vigour Group who have signed off on the
bank’s MFRS and IFRS Financial Statements for the
year ended March 31, 2015. Concurrently, the De-
loitte team has been advising and working closely
with AYA Bank to ensure full compliance with IFRS
for the accounting and reporting as well as adher-
ence to ISA for the audit.

Since this is the bank’s first time adoption, the au-
dit covered three years viz., 2012-2013, 2013-2014
& 2014-2015. It is also the first time that MVG have
audited the bank. Despite this extraordinarily heavy
workload, the statutory returns were filed within the
due date before June 30th.
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Economy and Banking

The lifting of sanctions in 2013 brought increased in-
vestment and revived markets. Imports have jumped
26% and exports, mostly to neighboring countries,
have risen by 15%. The flood of foreign investment,
consumption and exports has produced record
growth: an average of 8% over the past two years.
Hence Myanmar is one of the fastest growing econ-
omies in the world and, potentially, one of the most
powerful emerging economies in Southeast Asia.

Of 14 prominent economic areas in Myanmar, the
most outstanding example is telecom sector which
grew 46.9% this year, after Norway's Telenor and
Qatar's Ooredoo launched cellphone services in
the country of +51 million people. There is a size-
able growth in the manufacturing, construction and
FMCG sectors.

The banking sector has evolved and grown sub-
stantially over the last few years. However, Myanmar
is still regarded as one of the world's most "under
banked"” countries. According to international re-
ports, bank loans comprise less than 20% of GDP,
and less than 10% adults have access to any kind of
financial services. Myanmar's government plans to
increase its bankable population to 40% by 2020.

With the reintroduction of foreign banks, local banks
now have new opportunities within the country as well
as access to cheaper capital. There are new financial
opportunities, access to modern management and
technical knowledge. The multilateral agencies are
also working closely with the regulators for the
development of regulatory framework.

The central bank has also announced a blueprint
delineating movement towards deeper financial
market developments including the establishment of
a capital market, and inclusive instruments such as
agency banking, microfinance and mobile financial
services.
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Strategic Focus

As Myanmar continues its rapid economic growth
and ASEAN Economic Community (AEC) begins
to take effect in late 2015 , the banking sector will
continue to see political reforms aligning with the
country's economic developments . It will greatly
liberalize the flow of goods, services, investment and
capital across the member countries, allowing for in-
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creased and consistent intraregional trade.
The advent of the new banking era will bring about
both threats and opportunities for AYA Bank. Tech-
nology will bring competition from non-bank play-
ers, and as Myanmar's banking sector becomes more
and more intertwined with the global financial mar-
kets; the need for an efficient financial sector and a
comprehensive risk management policy will be un-
avoidable.

AYA Bank has always been at the fore front in terms
of innovative banking and will remain well poised to
tackle future challenges. The governance standards
were introduced and adopted include Board of Di-
rectors, with 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors
from various fields of expertise, ensures AYA Bank
stays in line with good corporate governance stan-
dards, and embraces sustainable development in all
aspects.

AYA Bank is moving towards “Customer Centricity”
and is looking to expand its business lines across a
universal banking platform to provide its customers
a holistic banking experience. With its rapidly grow-
ing branch network and innovative technology, AYA
Bank will look to cross sell other financial products
to its customers and offer more lucrative non-inter-
est services to achieve long term sustainable strat-
egy.

AYA bank will continue to prioritize risk-adjusted
sustainable profitability whilst maintaining commit-
ment to community development and customer loy-
alty. As a standard bearer of corporate governance,
and sustainable development, AYA Bank will contin-
ue to invest money and resources into initiatives that
realize the full potential of Myanmar.
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Dividend

The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of
Kyats 5.2 bn for the year ended 31 March 2015 with
the approval of the Central Bank of Myanmar. (In
2014: Final dividend was Kyats 5 bn, which was uti-
lized to increase the paid up capital in the financial
year 2015).
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Outlook

With the recent elections, Myanmar is widely expect-
ed to see a wave of transformation from all dimen-
sions, economic and social. Some also predict that
economic rules and regulations will have to change
considerably, which could also be a source of uncer-
tainty.

Furthermore, with the opening of the market, Myan-
mar is facing an increasing Balance of Payments defi-
cit as imports have continued to outpace exports,
rising $4.6 billion in the first quarter of 2015 com-
pared to $4.1 billion over the same period in 2014.
This situation is likely to persist as both machinery
and raw materials for development are sourced from
overseas.

The declining exports is a result of both lower com-
modity prices and the economic downturn in China.
This has indirectly caused the depreciation of the lo-
cal currency as the demand for foreign currency for
imports has continued to increase. The recent in-
struction by Central Bank of Myanmar to ensure that
the various sectors transact only in local currency,
also impacts inflation as retailers are marking up the
prices to cover the potential FX losses.

Despite growing concerns regarding inflation, Myan-
mar’s economy is highly promising as it is in the
heart of the world’s fastest growing region. The pop-
ulation is young with more than 60% under 35 years
and with majority of working age. It is also a territory
that is abundant in natural resources and shares a
border with 2 of the largest and rapidly developing
countries. If tactfully governed, Myanmar may rise to
be a significant regional player.
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PROFITABILITY
Revenue
Profit before Tax

17,101,508,446
1,479,767,757

KEY BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
Total Assets

Shareholders’ Equity

Loans and Advances
Deposits from customers

1,751,051,131,839
64,901,817,829
1,032,393,552,63]1
1,581,327,621,414

Financial Review
Profitability
Revenue

Profit before Tax

Key Balance Sheet Items
Total Assets
Shareholder's Equity
Loans and Advances

Deposits from Customers

Fiancial Ratios
Return on Shareholder’'s Equity
Return on Assets

Non Performing to Total Loans
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Financial RATIOS

As at 31 March 2015

17,101,508,446

1,479,767,757

1,751,051,131,839
64,901,817,829
1,032,393,552,631

1,581,372,621,414

17.69%
0.66%

1.07%

Return on Shareholders’ Equity 17.69%
Return on Assets 0.66%
Non Performing to Total Loans 1.07%

As at 31 March 2016

18,794,955,239
10,493,820,515

2,911,549,117,776
98,961,014,088
1,690,197,864,720
2,673,933,889,053

10.60%
0.36%

317%




Ayeyarwady Bank Limited
Statement by Directors

We, the following three (3) Directors of Ayeyarwady Bank Limited (the "Bank”) do hereby state that in the
opinion of the Directors, the accompanying statement of financial positions, statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows together with the
notes to the financial statement are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Bank at March 31, 2016 and results of the business and the cash flows of the Bank for the year ended on the
date of this statement.

We believe that Ayayarwady Bank Limited will be able to meet withdrawals of customers’ current, savings
and fixed deposits accounts and those loans, overdrafts and hire purchases accounts outstanding on March
31, 2016 are good and recoverable.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTOR

Date:
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Shareholders of
AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ayeyarwady Bank Limited (The "Bank™), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016, the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for year the ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 4 to 48.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accor-
dance with the Myanmar Companies Act (the "Act"). International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"),
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’'s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit, We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement of finacial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropirateness of accounting policies used and the reason-
ableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropirate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of the
Bank as at March 31, 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accor-
dance with the Myanmar Companies Act (the "Act"), International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS")
and instructions and guidance provided by the Central Bank of Myanmar ("CBM").

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of the Act, we report that:

m We have obtained all information and explanations we have required; and

2 Books of account have been maintanied by the Bank as required by Section 130 of the Act.

Also, in accordance with Section 90 of the Financial Institutions Law of Myanmar 2016, we report that the
financial statements of the Bank adequately reflect the financial position of the Bank and its solvency.

Certified Public Accountant
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

March 31, 2016

In Kyats millions

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Loan and advances
Property and equipment
Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

EQUITY

Share capital
Reserves
Ratained earnings

Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity

OFF-BALANCE SHEET

Contingent liabilities

Commitments

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

March 31, 2016

Note March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
8 597,411.5 330,21.7
9 332,208.1 236,264.5
10 1690,197.9 1,032,393.6
N 244,998.2 124,635.9
12 46,733.4 27,545.5

2,911,549.1 1,751,051.2

13 77,433.9 65,855.5
14 2,673,933.9 1,581,327.6
15 61,220.1 38,966.1
2,812,587.9 1,686,149.2

16 85,000.0 55,000.0
17 13,795.3 9,825.1
165.9 76.9

98,961.2 64,902.0

2,911,549.1 1,751,051.2

25 47,419.7 18767.6
26 206,484.6 124,298.8

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTOR
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In Kyats millions

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Other income

Net non-interest income

Total income

General and administrative expenses
Operating lease expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Other expenses

Total expenses

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Net profit for the year representing total

comprehensive income for the year

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTOR

Note

20
20
21

22
26
n
23

24

April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

180,743.2 113,829.4
(161,948.2) (96,727.9)
18,795.0 17,101.5
264,00.8 18,644.0
(215.5) (1,296.9)
7,405.4 2,745.2
33,590.7 20,092.3
52,385.7 37,193.8
(29,861.1) (19,691.9)
(4,040.8) (2,621.D
(5,107.3) (3,031.2)
(2,882.7) (1,132.3)
(41,891.9) (26,476.5)
10,493.8 10,717.3
(2,634.6) (2,872.6)
7,859.2 7,844.7
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended March 31, 2016 Year ended March 31, 2016

In Kyats millions Note Share Capital Reserves Retained Earnings Total In Kyats millions Note 2016 2015
Balance at April 1, 2014 50000.0 6434.4 822.9 57257.3 Cash Flows from operating activities
Issue of shares 16 5,000.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 Profit before tax 10,493.8 10,717.3
Total comprehensive income for the year 0.0 0.0 7,844.7 7,844.7 Adjustment for :
Transfer to Statutory Reserves 0.0 2,151.8 (2,151.8) 0.0 - Depreciation 5,107.3 3,031.2
Transfer to General Reserves 0.0 1,238.9 (1,238.9) 0.0 - Fixed assets written off 23 1,366.7 8.7
Dividends 18 0.0 0.0 (5,200.0) (5,200.0) 16,967.8 13,757.2
Balance at March 31, 2015 55,000.0 9,825.1 76.9 6,4902.0

Changes in

- Investment securities (95,943.6) (89,184.1)
Issue of shares 16 30,000.0 0.0 0.0 30,000.0 - Loan and advances (657,804.3) (502,904.9)
Total comprehensive income for the year 0.0 0.0 7,859.2 7,859.2 - Other assets (19,187.9) (7,716.3)
Transfer to Statutory Reserves 0.0 1,964.8 (1,964.8) 0.0 - Deposits from banks 1,578.3 44,264.7
Transfer to General Reserves 0.0 2,005.4 (2,005.4) 0.0 - Deposits from customers 1,092,606.3 706,586.5
Dividends 18 0.0 0.0 (3,800.0) (3,800.0) - Other liabilities 24,334.4 20,105.9
Balance at March 31, 2015 85,000.0 13,795.3 165.9 98,961.2 372,551.0 184,909.0

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. Income tax paid (2,514.9) (4,000.0)
Net cash from operating activities 370,036.1 180,909.0

Cash Flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property and equipment (127,991.9) (48,445.3)
Refunds received from acquisition of 115.6 0.0
property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities (126,836.3) (48,445.3)

Cash Flows from financing activities

Issue of share capital 25,000.0 0.0
Dividends paid (1,000.0) 0.0
Net cash used in financing activities 24,000.0 0.0
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 267,199.8 132,463.7
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 330,211.7 197,748.0
the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 597,411.5 330,211.7
year

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Year ended March 31, 2016

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements.

1. GENERAL

Ayeyarwady Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is a private limited banking company registered by Ministry of National Planning
and Economic Development, Directorate of Investment and Company Administration by its Certificate of Incorporation
No. 397 of 2010-2011 dated June 14, 2010.

The Bank’s main activities include not only Local Banking currencies and transactions, banking loans & overdrafts, but
it was granted a Money Changer Licence No.CBM, FE MD (15/2011) dated October 24, 2011, and as well as granted an
Authorized Dealer Licence No. CBM, FE MD (77/2011) dated November 25, 2011 which the Bank can deal with the local
and foreign currencies at the same time.

A Banking License No.MaPaBa/P-23/(7) 2010 was issued on July 2, 2010 by the Central Bank of Myamnar to perform
the functions initially restricted to item (a), (b), (h) and (i) of Section 25 of The Financial Institutions of Myamnar Law
(1990) with provision that any additional functions will have to be applied for in advance from the CBM.

The CBM issued instruction 6/2016 dated June 30, 2016, directing all banks to surrender their licenses under Section 176
of the Financial Institutions Law enacted in January 2016 (“FIL 2016”) before the deadline of July 25, 2016, and to apply
for a new one under Section Il of the FIL20I6.

As directed by the CBM, the Bank also surrendered the license mentioned in paragraphs above and simultaneously re-
applied for the new license tmder FIL2016. The new license number MA BA BA / PA BA (R)-13/08/2016 was issued on
August 24, 2016 under FIL2016. The new license for Commercial Banking Business is unconditional and more wide-rang-
ing than the license surrendered by the Bank.

As at March 31, 2016, the Bank has established one hundred and forty nine (149) branches in Myamnar.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Myanmar Companies Act (the “Act”), International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
instruction and guidance provided by the Central Bank of Myamnar (“CBM”).

2.2 Reporting period

The reporting period is from April 1, 2015 to March 31, 2016, the 2015-2016 fiscal year under the existing Income Tax Law
of Myamnar.

2.3 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments that are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
below.
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Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/ or disclosure purposes in these financial
statements is determined on such a basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

« Level 1inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

« Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level |, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

¢ Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

2.4 IFRS issued but not effective

The Bank has applied all Intemational Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and IFRS issued by the IASB that are mandatorily
effective for accounting periods that begin on or afier April |, 2015. The Bank has not applied the following relevant new
and revised IFRSs that have been issued but not effective as at the reporting date:

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments?

IFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers (with clarifications issued)?

IFRS 16 — Leases?®

Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative'

Amendments to IAS |6 and IAS 38 — Clarifications of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisationl’

Amendments to IFRSs — Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle'

I.  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2. Effective for annual periods” beginning on or after 1 January 2018

3. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
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IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial as-
sets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2014 to include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2015 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for
financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a “Fair
Value Through Other Comprehensive Income” (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

¢« All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition andMea-
surement are now required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt invest-
ments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCD. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of subse-
guent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subse-
guent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

«  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 re-
quires that the amount of change in fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in
the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch to profit or
loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit
or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

¢ In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occured before credit
losses are recognised.

« The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently
available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for
hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness
test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment
of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk manage-
ment activities have also been introduced.
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Management anticipate that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on amounts reported in
respect of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of IFRS 9 until the Bank undertakes a detailed review.

IFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2015, IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for rev-
enue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 1.1 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or ser-
vices to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step I: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance obligations, prin-
cipal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

Management anticipate that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on amounts reported
in respect of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. However. it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the effect of IFRS 15 until the Bank undertakes a detailed review.

IFRS 16 — Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for
both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related in-
terpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee ac-
counting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-us asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for
all leases by lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value asset.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended March 31, 2016

liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under I1AS 17 are present-
ed as operating cash flows; whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal and an
interest portion which will be presented as financing and operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast the lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Management anticipate that the application of IFRS 16 in the future may have a material impact on amounts reported
in respect of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the effect of IFRS 16 until the Bank undertakes a detailed review of all leases.

2.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabili-
ties, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.6 Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at Fair Value Through Profit or
Loss’ (“FVTPL"), ‘Held-To-Maturity’ investments, ‘Available-For-Sale’ (“AFS”) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial rec-
ognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

2.6.1 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating inter-
est income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transac-
tion costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at FVTPL.
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2.6.2 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank manages to-
gether and has

o a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

* the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both. which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Bank’s documented risk man-
agement or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

* it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement and recognised
as Profit or Loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the ‘other income’ and ‘other expenses’ line items. Fair value is determined in the man-
ner described in Note 4.2.

2.6.3 Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed ma-
turity dates that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition,
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.

2.6.4 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
qguoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is im-
material.
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Year ended March 31, 2016

2.6.5 Available-for-sale financial assets (AF S financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary fniancial assets relating to changes in foreign currency
rates, interest income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity invest-
ments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available- for-sale financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments
revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation resewe is reclassified to profit or loss.

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign
exchange gains and losses that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost
of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive in-
come.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such un-
quoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impainnent losses at the end of each
reporting period.

2.6.6 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the investment have been affected, and an impairment loss recognised.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
¢ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
¢« breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
¢ it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; or
* the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the differ-
ence between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
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at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of loans and advances, where the carrying amountis reduced through the use of an al-
lowance account. When a loans and advances is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allow-
ance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit guality

The Bank categorises its loans and advances in accordance with CBM’s regulation No. 6/1995 on Loan Grad-
ing and Provisioning. In addition, loans and advances are required under IFRS 7 to be categorised into “im-

paired”, “past due but not impaired” and “neither past due nor impaired”. Past due loans refer to loans that
are overdue by one day or more. Impaired loans are non-performing loans with specific allowances made.

i) Performing loans

Pass grades indicate that the timely repayment of the outstanding credit facilities is not in doubt
and the credit facility does not exhibit any potential weakness in repayment capability, business,
cash flow or financial position of the borrower. As per the CBM’s instruction, all loans with repay-
ments made within 6 months is considered as “Pass”.

ii) Non-performing loans

Sub-standard grades indicate that the credit facilities exhibit definable weaknesses either in re-
spect of business, cash flow or financial position of the borrower that may jeopardise repay-
ment on existing terms. As per the CBM'’s instruction, all loans with repayments between 6 to 12
months overdue are classified as “Sub-standard”.

Doubtful grades indicate that the credit facilities exhibit severe weaknesses such that the pros-
pect of full recovery of the outstanding credit facilities is questionable and the prospect of a loss
is high, but the exact amount remains undeterminable. As per the CBM’s instruction, all loans with
repayments between 12 to 24 months overdue are classified as “Doubtful”.

Loss grades indicate the amount of loan recovery is assessed to be insignificant. As per the CBM’s
instruction, all loans with repayments more than 24 months overdue are classified as “Loss”.

In determining if the loan is non-performing, management also considers several factors such
as expected future cash flows, the financial ability of the borrower to meet its obligations, and
business and economic conditions.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that
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the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve.

In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recog-
nition of the impairment loss.

2.6.7 Derecognition of financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another party. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e. g. when the Bank retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Bank allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial
asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consid-
eration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to
be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those pans.

2.7 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

2.7 Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Bank are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

2.7.2 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deduct-
ing all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
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direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Bank’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Bank’s
own equity instruments.

2.8 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

2.81 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
¢ it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

¢ oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that th Bank man-
ages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

¢ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or

¢ the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. in accordance with the Bank’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

¢ it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid
on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other income’ and ‘other expenses’ line items. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in Note 4.2.

2.8.2 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly dis-
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cotmts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

2.8.3 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, if not desig-
nated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

¢ the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37; and

*« the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

2.8.4 Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, can-
celled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amountof the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.9 Revenue Recognition

2.91 Interest income and expense

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and
of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and ex-
pense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments
“at fair value through profit or loss”.

2.9.2 Fees and commission income and expense

Fee income is earned from a diverse range of services provided by the Bank to its customers. Fee income is
accounted for as follows:

¢ income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed
(for example, commission arising from issuance of Payment Orders, Telegraphic Transfer and remittance
and other services);
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* income earned from the provision of financial facilities to customers is recognised as revenue as the
services are provided (for example, default fees on loans, service charges and commitment fee for loans
overdrafts), usually on a time — apportion basis.

2.10 Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

2.10.1 The Bank as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattem in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an ex-
pense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattem in which eco-
nomic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Initial direct costs incurred by the Bank in negotiating and arranging operating leases are recognised in
profit or loss when incurred. Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the financial
year in which they are incurred.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the financial year in which termination
takes place.

2.1 Foreign Currencies

The financial statements of the Bank are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Bank operates (its functional currency). The functional currency of the Bank is
assessed to be the Myamnar Kyat by management.

in preparing the financial statements for the Bank. transactions in currencies other than the Bank’s func-
tional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-
translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period.
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2.12 Employee benefits

2121 Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits ex-
pected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Bank in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.

213 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

2131 Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit equates to ‘profit before tax’
as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because there are minimal
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible.

The Bank’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

213.2 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. De-
ferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary difierences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax-
able profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Annual Report
92 2015-2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended March 31, 2016

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the marmer in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

2.13.3 Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

2.14 Property and equipment

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost in-
cludes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Bank’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified and included in the respective categories of property and
equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Buildings, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impair-
ment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and
properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line meth-
od. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

¢ Buildings 20 years

¢ Leasehold improvements Over period of the lease
¢« Office machine and other equipment 10 years

* Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 years

¢ Electrical equipment and computer accessories 5 years

¢« Motor vehicles 10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise fiom the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

During the financial year, the Bank reassessed the useful lives of its property and equipment and revised the
useful lives of buildings and motor vehicles, which resulted in additional depreciation of 341.8 million Kyats
in the current year.
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2.15 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for im-
pairment at least amiually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discotmted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Bank will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the efiect of the time value of money is
material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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2.16.1 Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous
contract is considered to exist where the Bank has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors of the Bank
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accotmting esti-
mates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

3.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

3.1 Recognition of property and equipment

Based on management judgement, the Bank has recognised certain property and equipment with cost of
approximately 115.6 billion Kyats (2015: 49.0 billion Kyats) where the legal title is held by the Bank’s share-
holders and other individuals. These property and equipment are used by the Bank and management is
taking measures for the legal title to be transferred to the Bank in due course.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertain-
ty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

3.2.1 Impairment losses on loans and advances

A loan is impaired when there is objective evidence that events since the loan was granted, have affected
expected cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss is the difference between the carrying value of the
loan and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the loan’s original efiective interest rate. The
Bank reviews its loans and advances to assess impairment on a regular basis. In determining whether an
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impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, management exercises judgement on whether there is
any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
the loan before the decrease can be identified within an individual loan.

All impaired loans that exceed specific thresholds are individually assessed for impairment. Impairment loss-
es are recognised as the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the discounted value of man-
agement’s best estimate of future cash repayments and proceeds from any collaterals held. These estimates
take into account the customer’s debt capacity and financial flexibility; the amount and sources of cash
flows; and the realisable value of any security held. Estimating the quantum and timing of future recoveries
involves significant judgement. The size of receipts will depend on the future performance of the borrower
and the value of security, both of which will be affected by future economic conditions. Additionally, collat-
eral may not be readily marketable. The actual amount of future cash flows and the date they are received
may differ from these estimates. Consequently, actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in
these financial statements.

3.2.2 Useful life of property and equipment

Property and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. Management
estimates the useful lives of property and equipment, based on expected usage and industry nons. Changes
in the expected level of maintenance, usage and technological developments could impact the useful lives
and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

During the financial year, the Bank reassessed the useful lives of its property and equipment and revised the
useful lives of buildings and motor vehicles, which resulted in additional depreciation of 341.8 million Kyats
in the current year.

4. Financial INSTRUMENTS
4. Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period.

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,393.5 280.4
Held-to-maturity investments 329,814.6 235,984.1
Loan and receivables 2,311,821.3 1,365,642.2
Total 2,644,029.4 1,601,906.7

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost 2,809,077.7 1,686,146.9
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4.2 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. The fair value of a financial instru-
ment is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between knowledgeable and
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

As at the end of each reporting period, the Bank did not hold any financial instrument which are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis. The unquoted equity investments classified as available-for-sale, are car-
ried at cost, less impairment because the fair value cannot be reliably estimated using valuation techniques
supported by observable market data determined.

Except for long term Govermnent treasury bonds which are classified as held-to-maturity, management
considers that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank recorded as amortised
cost in the financial statements approximates their fair value, due to the relative short-term maturity of
those financial instruments.

The following sets out a comparison of the carrying value of these Government treasury bonds against the
fair value as at each reporting period. As quoted prices are not available from active markets, the fair value
of the Govermnent treasury bonds were determined using a discounted cash flow method, based on the
contractual cash flows and current coupon rates as at the end of each reporting period.

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Government treasury bonds:

- Carrying value 329,814.6 235,984.1
- Fair value 329,822.8 233,904.4

5. Financial RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank's activities are principally related to extending loans and advances, accepting deposits and carry-
ing out transactions. These expose the Bank to a variety of financial risks, including foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Managing these financial risks form an integral part of the Bank’s business. The Bank adopts the risk man-
agement set out in accordance to the risk appetite of the Bank, which encompass a variety of controls and
reporting processes. These not only include risk parameters for the various financial instruments that the
Bank may undertake, but also directions on the types of business that the Bank may engage in, guidelines
for the acceptance of customers for all types of financial instruments and terms under which customer busi-
ness is conducted.

The Bank believes that it has effective processes in place to identify, measure, monitor and ultimately, miti-
gate these financial risks.

A discussion on the main financial risks that the Bank is exposed to and how these risks are managed, is set
out below.
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5.1 Credit Risk

Credit risk is considered to be the risk of loss due to inability or unwillingness of the counterparty to fulfil
its payment obligations to the Bank. Management has a credit policy in place. The Bank generally holds full
collaterals against the credit facilities granted and the right to dispose of the collaterals when certain expo-
sure thresholds are exceeded. The Bank generally only accepts land and buildings as collaterals, with other
types of collaterals such as golds and machineries making up the minority of the population of collateral
held. Credit evaluations to derive the Bank’s risk exposures according to internal policies are performed on
all clients at the inception of the loans and at loan roll over dates.

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is
the taking of security for loans and advances, which is a common practice. The Bank implements guidelines
on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for
loans and advances include charges over land and buildings, gold, equipment, contract financing, guaran-
tees, project contracting and residential properties.

All credit lending to non-bank customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimise credit loss,
the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed
for the relevant individual loans and advances.

The fair value of collateral is valued by an independent assessor is based on valuation technigues commonly
used for the corresponding assets, done before the inception of the loan. Loans are usually given between
the margins of 30% to 70% of the Forced Sale Value, which is also independently estimated. There is no
revaluation of the collaterals in subsequent periods but at the renewal/roll-over of a loan, the customer is
questioned about any changes to the collateral at which point the need for a reappraisal will be decided.

The credit risk management and control are centralised with the Credit Committee, which reports to the
Board of Directors on a monthly basis. Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of
the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by
changing these lending limits where appropriate.

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual credit facility on a periodic basis or when individual cir-
cumstances require. Impairment allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evalua-
tion of the incurred loss on a case-by-case basis and subject to the approval of Credit Committee.
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511 Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table presents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period
in respect of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments, without taking into account the
value of any collateral or other security held, in the event the counterparties fail to perform their obligations.
The maximum exposure to credit risk to on-balance sheet is the carrying amount of these instruments as re-
ported in the statement of financial position. For contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called
upon. For commitments, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of undrawn credit facilities
granted to customers.

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Cash and cash equivalent 356,731.4 155,80I.6
Investment securities 329,314.6 235,984.1
Loan and receivables 1,690,197.9 1,032,393.6
Other assets 24,211.9 3,036.9

OFF-BALANCE SHEET

Contingent liabililties 47,419.7 18,767.6
Undrawn loan commitments 174,4406. 108.586.2
Total maximum exposure to credit risk 2,622,816.1 1,544,570.0

5.111 Collateral and other credit enhancements

In respect of the Bank’s deposits with other banks, the Bank considers the exposure to credit risk to be low
as these deposits are placed with credit-worthy financial institutions. The financial effect of collateral or
credit enhancements obtained for Other Assets are not expected to be significant.

For the loans and advances granted by the Bank, the following types of collateral and credit enhancements
are obtained:

¢ Charges over land and buildings

« Charges over machines

¢ Mortgages over residential properties
« Gold

* Guarantees

As at March 31, 2016, 95% (2015: 99%) of the carrying amount of loans and advances are backed by tangible,
realisable collateral and credit enhancements.
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512 Credit risk by industry

The following table sets out the Bank’s Loan and Advances based on the exposure by industry as at the end

of the reporting period:

In Kyats millions

March 31, 2016

March 31, 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Agricultural 5987.7 5,086.7
Construction 229,222.8 66,165.2
Livestock 899.6 1,855.8
Manufacturing 211,892.3 154,781.5
Service 293,969.8 200,199.9
Trading 823,336.9 511,900.9
Transporation 13,153.6 10,365.2
General m,735.2 82,038.4
Total 1,690,197.9 1,032,393.6

51.3 Credit Quality of loans and advances

Loans and advances are graded by the Bank against an internally developed credit rating scale, which gen-
erally corresponds to the credit ratings set out in the instructions and guidance issued by the CBM. The
following tables sets out the credit ratings of the Bank’s loans and advances (excluding Hire Purchase and

Staff Loans, which are not graded).

In Kyats millions

Not graded
Pass
Sub-standard
Doubtful

Bad Debt
Total

March 31, 2016

March 31, 2015

92,721.9 82,038.4
1,543,846.7 939,279.8
18,485.2 5,068.7
22,4335 1,397.6
12,708.6 4,609.1
1,690,197.9 1,032,393.6

Based on the instructions and guidance issued by the CBM, the Bank generally classifies its loans and ad-
vances as “Sub-standard” when the coimterparty has failed to make payments when contractually due,
for more than 6 months but not more than 12 months. Loans and advances are generally further classified
as “Doubtful” and “Bad Debt” where the loans and advances are past due by more than 12 months and 24
months respectively.
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514 Loans and advances past due

The following table sets out an aging analysis of these loans and advances (excluding Hire Purchase and
Staff Loans) which are either past due or where the facility contracts have expired, banded based on the
time periods these are past the contractual due date, as at the end of the reporting period. However these
are not impaired as they are secured by tangible, realisable collateral (refer to Note 5.1.1.1).

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
<90 days 34,184.6 239,765.9
90 - 180 days 118,357.1 94,728.8
> 180 days 53,629.3 1,075.4
Total 206,171.0 345,570.1

5.2 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its cash flows obligations when they are due, such
as upon the maturity of deposits or arising from loan draw-downs.

It is unusual for any bank to completely match the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities since business
transacted is often of different terms and of different types. Therefore, controlled mismatching of the ma-
turities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of liquidity of the Bank.

The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Bank has the ability to generate sufficient
cash or its equivalents, in a timely and cost effectively mannier, to meet its commitments as they fall due.

The management of liquidity risk is centralised in the Treasruy Department who reports to the Management
and Asset/Liability Committee (“ALCO”). ALCO meeting is held on a quarterly basis to oversee liquidity risk
management of the Bank and is supplemented by a “Funds Meeting” which is held weekly in addition to any
meetings called by the Executive Management on a need to basis. The Bank has in place Business Contin-
gency Plan (“BCP”) which include disaster situation facing by the Bank. The BCP covers operational steps
and procedure of how to handle money transactions during disaster situation, meeting all contingencies
arising not only from the ordinary course of business but also on liquidity crisis situation.

As part of its liquidity risk management framework set by the management and the regulatory requirements
stipulated by the local authority, the Bank is required to maintain adequate liquid assets to manage its short-
term liquidity. The Bank its overall liquidity investments in government securities, borrowings with Central
Bank of Myanmar and holding cash reserves. This serves to ensure full cash inflows are available to meet
customer withdrawals upon maturity.

5.21 Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities on a contractual undiscounted cash flow
basis, grouped based on the remaining contractual maturities as at the end of the reporting period. The
adjustment coltumn includes items which are part of the contractual undiscotunted cash flows, such as in-
terest payable or receivable, but are not included in the carrying amount of the financial instruments in the
statement of financial position.
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On a behavioral basis, the expected cash flows of some of these financial liabilities could vary significantly
from the disclosures below. While deposits from customers are contractually on demand, these deposits
are expected to remain relatively stable, and has been a source of long term funding for the Bank, based on

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended March 31, 2016

historical trends. Similarly, while undrawn loan commitments are contractually available on demand, these
are not all expected to be drawn upon immediately.

On demand

3 months

In Kyats millions or less than 3 to 12 Over 1 year N;:fui?::,ic Adjustment Total
months month
As at March 31, 2016
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 598,900.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1,489.0) 597,411.5
Investment securities 104,179.0 4,035.8 293,265.7 2,393.5 (71,665.9) 332,208.1
Loan and Advances 621,586.8 977,948.7 213,573.8 0.0 (122,911.4) 1,690,197.9
Other assets 24,211.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 24,211.9
Total 1,348,878.2 981,984.5 506,839.5 2,393.5 (196,066.3) 2,644,029.4
LIABILITIES
Deposits from from bank (72,989.5) (5,395.3) 0.0 0.0 950.9 (77,433.9)
Deposits from customers (2,468,430.0) 241163.4 0.0 0.0 35,2725 (2,673,933.9)
Other liabilities (57,709.9) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (57,709.9)
Total (2,598,742.4) (246,558.7) 0.0 0.0 36,223.4 (2,809,077.7)
ON-BALANCE SHEET (1,249,864.2) 735,425.8 506,839.5 2,393.5 (159,842.9) (165,048.3)
Liquidity Gap
OFF-BALANCE SHEET
Contiagent liabilities (33,081.6) (14,022.6) (315.5) 0.0 0.0 (47,419.7)
Commitments (37192.2) (119,316.8) (49,975.6) 0.0 0.0 (206,484.6)
Off-Balance Sheet 70,273.8 (133,339.4) (50,291.1) 0.0 0.0 (253,904.3)
Liquidity Gap
Net Liquidity Gap (1,320,138.0) 602,086.4 456,548.4 24,915.1 (159,843.0) (418,952.6)
In Kyats millions o(l?rl‘egse rt]:\aal:\d3 3 m?:;?\i;o 12 Over 1year N;:fui?tigc Adjustment Total
months
As at March 31, 2015
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 330,269.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 (57.7) 330,211.7
Investment securities 717.9 18,999.9 288,992.3 280.4 (79,126.0) 236,264.5
Loan and Advances 374,902.9 641,129.8 82,867.4 0.0 (66,506.5) 1,032,393.6
Other assets 3,036.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,036.9
Total 715,327.1 660,129.7 371,859.7 280.4 (145,690.2) 1,601,906.7

Annual Report
102 2015-2016

LIABILITIES

Deposits from from bank (29,471.7) (37,779.4) 0.0 0.0 1,395.6 (65,855.5)
Deposits from customers (1,363,629.0) (244,350.3) (12,250.0) 0.0 38,901.7 (1,581,327.6)
Other liabilities (38,963.8) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (38,963.8)
Total 1,432,064.5 282,129.7 12,250.0 0.0 40,297.3 (1,686,146.9)
ON-BALANCE SHEET (716,737.4) 378,000.0 359,609.7 280.4 (105,392.9) (84,240.2)
Liquidity Gap

OFF-BALANCE SHEET

Contingent liabilities (18,767.6) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (18,767.6)
Commitments (109,204.5) (1,854.8) (13,239.6) 0.0 0.0 (124,298.8)
Off-Balance Sheet 127,972.1 (1,854.8) (13,239.6) 0.0 0.0 (143,066.4)
Liquidity Gap

Net Liquidity Gap (844,709.5) 376,145.3 346,370.1 280.4 (105,392.9) (227,306.6)

53 Interest Rate Risk

Sensitivity to interest rates in banking activities arises from mismatches in the interest rate characteristics of
the assets and their corresponding liability funding. One of the major causes of these mismatches is timing
differences in the re-pricing of the assets and the liabilities.

Financial instruments which are issued at fixed rates expose the Bank to fair value interest rate risk. How-
ever, changes in market interest rates will not have an impact on the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as all financial instruments are accounted for on an amortised cost basis.

The interest rates charged or granted by the Bank are determined by a committee with oversight by Board
of Directors. These interest rates are set within a band determined by the Central Bank of Myamnar. As at

March 31, 2016, the interest rates on loans are subject to the following maximum caps:
¢ Loans and advances: 13% per annum (2015: 13% per annum)

¢ Overdraft: 12% per annum (2015: 10% per aimum)

As at March 31, 2016, the interest rates on deposits are subject to the following minimums:
¢ Current deposits: 8% per annum (2015: 8% per annum)

¢ Fixed deposits: 8-10% per amium (2015: 8-10% per annum)

The tables below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate repricing risks. Included in the table are
the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or
maturity dates.
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gates currency risk by attempting to square its Net Open Position on a daily basis and regularly participates

Weighted

L 3 months . . . . . .
In Kyats millions _ average Within 3 to 12 Over 1year Non-interest Total in CBM auctions of USD at the CBM Reference Rate as additional funding needs arise.
interest rate months month bearing
(in %) In Kyats millions usD EUR SGD Others Total
As at March 31, 2016
ASSETS :; SaltE _Il_wsarch 31, 2016
1 0,
Cash and cash equivalents 9.22% 1077.9 0.0 0.0 596,333.6 597415 Cash and cash equivalents 1621953 32823 2189.7 686.2 168,353.5
Investment securities 8.97% 102,884.6 4,000.0 222,930.0 2,393.5 332,208 Other assets 7122.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 7122.4
0,
Loan and Advances 12.18% 581,729.7 915,068.4 193,399.8 0.0 1,690,197.9 Total 169,317.7 3,282.3 2189.7 eBe2 175.475.9
Other assets 0.00% 0.0 0.0 0.0 24,211.9 24,211.9
Total 685,692.2 919,068.4 416,329.8 622,939.0 2,644,029.4
LIABILITIES LIABILITIES
) Deposits from banks (19,137.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (19,137.0)
Deposits from from bank 9.05% (45,761.2) 5,000.0 0.0 (26,672.7) (77,433.9) 5 o . (105.013.0) (1.933.8) 1075 06 (107.054.3)
eposIts Trom customers , . s . . . f .
Deposits from customers 8.46%  (2,259,194.4) (222,441.7) 0.0 (192,297.8)  (2,673,933.9) Other liabilt (16.742.5 0o 0o 06 16.724.5)
er liapbllities s . . . . , .
Other liabilities 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.0 (57,709.9) (57,709.9)
Total (140,892.5) (1,933.8) (107.5) 0.0 (142,933.8)
Total (2,304,955.6) (227,441.7) 0.0 (276,680.4) (2,809,077.7)
NET CURRENCY GAP 28,425.2 1,348.5 2,082.2 686.2 32,542.1
NET INTEREST RATE GAP (1,619,263.4) 691,626.7 416,329.8 346,258.6 (165,048.3)
In Kyats millions UsD EUR SGD Others Total
As at March 31, 2015
As at March 31, 2015 ASSETS
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 77,655.7 1,613.1 6,396.4 241.2 85,906.4
Cash and cash equivalents 8.42% 2,780.4 0.0 0.0 327,431.3 330,211.7 oth ; 4021 00 00 00 4021
er assets . . . . .
Investment securities 9.42% 6,984 18,000.0 211,000.0 280.4 236,264.5
Total 78,057.8 1,613.1 6,396.4 241.2 86,308.5
Loan and Advances 12.08% 351,769.9 605,188 75,435.6 0.0 1,032,393.6
Other assets 0.00% 0.0 0.0 0.0 24,211.9 24,211.9
Total 361,534.4 623,188.1 286,435.6 330748.6 1,601,906.7
LIABILITIES
LIABILITIES Deposits from banks 27.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 27.0)
Deposits from from bank 9.22% (27.235.3) (36,600.0) 0.0 (2,020.2) (65,855.5) Deposits from customers (63,311.2) 77.0) (66.6) 0.0 (63,454.8)
Deposits from customers 846%  (1,216]29.0) 231,852.0) (10,000.0) (123,346.6)  (1,581,327.6) Other liabilities (41.9) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (419
Other liabilities 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.0 (38,963.8) (38,963.8) Total sELetod) (77.0 (66.6) Lo dsEys
Total (1,243,364.3) (268,452.0) (10000.0) (164,330.6)  (1,686,146.9)
NET CURRENCY GAP 14,677.6 1,536.1 6,329.8 241.2 22,784.7
NET INTEREST RATE GAP (881,829.9) 354,736.1 276435.6 166,418.0 (84,240.2)

5.41 Crurency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a change in the relevant foreign currencies against the func-
tional currency of the Bank, Myanmar Kyat. The percentage used in the sensitivity analysis for each currency
represents the difference between the forward and spot foreign exchange rates as at the end of the report-
ing period. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusted for their translation at the period end for the change in foreign currency rates below.

54 Currency risk

Currency risk is the potential adverse impact on the Bank's earnings and economic value due to currency
rate movement. The Bank is exposed to currency risk in the spot foreign exchange markets. The Bank miti-
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The following table sets out the increase (decrease) to the Bank’s profit before income tax arising from a
10% appreciation of the relevant foreign currency against the functional currency of the Bank. A 10% depre-
ciation will have the opposite impact to the Bank’s profit before income tax.

In Kyats millions 2016 2015
usbD 2,842.5 1,467.8
EUR 134.9 153.6
SGD 208.2 633.0
6. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to maintain an optimal level of capital, which is ade-
quate to support business growth, commensurate with the Bank’s risk profile and meet the regulatory re-
quirements. The management of capital funds is centralised in the Treasury department and monitored daily
by the Finance department. There has been no change in the Bank’s capital management strategy from the
previous reporting period.

The Bank is subject to the maintenance of capital adequacy ratios as determined by the CBM. The capital
adequacy ratios are based on the Bank’s core capital and risk weighted assets. The Bank considers its core
capital to include issued and paid up capital, reserves and retained profits. The Bank’s risk weighted assets
include loans and advances, fixed assets and other assets. The Bank reported the following capital adequacy
ratios to the CBM as the end of each reporting period as set out below:

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO 10.2% 11.2%

The Bank has met externally imposed capital requirements by the Central Bank of Myanmar as at the end of
each reporting period.

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank’s shareholders are disclosed in Note 16. The Bank is controlled by U Zaw Zaw (“Controlling Share-
holder”). Shareholders with more than 20 % shares in the Bank are considered to have significant influence
on the Bank (“Significant Shareholders”). The Bank’s related parties are determined based on |AS 24.

71 Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or
otherwise) of the Bank.

The following table sets out the compensation for Key Management Personnel of the Bank in exchange for
services rendered to the Bank for the period they served dining the year:
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In Kvats millions April 1, 2015 to April 1, 2014 to
6 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Short term employee benefits 639.1 9379

7.2 Transactions with Related Parties

All related party transactions were made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s length basis. In
addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following table sets out other
significant transactions and balances with related parties:

In Kyats millions 2016 2015
Transactions with related parties during the financial year
Income received/earned 2,169.2 1,361.7
Expenses paid/accured 925.2 1,733.7

Balance with related partics as at the end of March 31:
Loans and advances 20,3917 21,283.1
Deposits held 5,005.0 4,553.1

Other payments to related parties during the financial year:

Payments for property and equipment 1,870.9 10,843.8
8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Cash 240,680.1 174,410.1
Account with Central Bank of Myanmar 137,648.3 54,206.3
Account with State Banks 48,062.7 54,760.1
Account with Private/Other Banks 70,657.3 3,019.8
Account with Foreign Banks 100,363.1 43,815.4
Total 597,411.5 330,211.7
9. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Government treasury bonds 330,930.0 236,000.0
- Discount (amns.4) (15.9)
329,814.6 235,984.1
Unquoted equity shares (at cost) 2,393.5 280.4
Total 332,208.1 236,264.5
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10. LOANS AND ADVANCES 12.
March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

LOANS AND ADVANCES

In Kyats millions

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Loans 286,439.1 94,959.7

Draft, cheques and debit notes receivable 120.9 375.0
Overdrafts 1,292,023.6 855,395.5

Prepayment 20,237.0 23,2776
Hire purchase 90,838.3 80,645.9

Accured income 1,513.1 1,087.7
Staff loans 1,883.6 1,392.5

Foreign Remittance (Inward) of Foreign Banks 488.7 353.4
Short Term Loans and Foreign Banks 19,000.0 0.0

Stock 2,284.5 1,231.0
Other loans 13.3 0.0

Card receivables from Visa and Master Card 9,645.8 747.3
Total 1,690,197.9 1,032,393.6

Other receivables 2,443.4 473.5

Total 46,733.4 24,545.5

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Electrical 13. DEPOSITS FROM BANKS
Office machine Furniture, equip- Motor
In Kyats millions Building Land anc! other fixt_urgs and ment and vehicles Total In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
equipment fittings computer
accessories
Cost Current Deposits of Private Banks 1,865.5 313.0
Balance at April 1, 2014 331282 35,6061 4,61011 736.2 4,495.7 3,702.4 82,278.7 Current Deposits of Private Banks (IR) 4,891.2 16801
Additions 26,555.6 12,003.7 5149.0 44838 2,467.6 1,820.6 48,4453 Current Deposits of Foreign Banks 19,755.0 0.0
Disposal 0.0 0.0 0.0 .4) an 0.0 0.1 Saving Deposits of Private Banks 4,895.6 1,135.3
Balance at March 31, 2015 59,683.8  48,609.8 9,759.1 1182.6 6,955.6 5,523.0 130,713.9 Fixed Deposits of Private Banks 45,8656 62,700.0
Additions 1,423.4 98,4617 5,698.6 362.2 10,0731 1,972.9 127,991.9 Other Deposits of Foreign Banks 161.0 271
Write offs 0.0  (1,033.8) (32.8) (30.7) (231.2) (38.2) (1,366.7) Total 77,433.9 65,855.5
Reclassifications 0.0 (520.0) (529.7) (90.2) (15.7) 0.0 (1155.6)
Balance at March 31, 2016 71107.2 144,517.7 14,895.2 1,423.9 16,781.8 7,455.7 25,6183.5
14. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMER

Accumulated depreciation

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Balance at April 1, 2014 1,348.1 0.0 412.7 27.9 617.6 641.9 3,048.2
Depreciation for the year 1,267.8 0.0 363.6 29.4 807.4 563.0 3,031.2

Current Deposits of Customer 192,297.8 133,346.6
Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.3) an 0.0 1.4)

Saving Deposits of Customers 2,099,535.5 1,224,454.7
Balance at March 31, 2015 2,615.9 0.0 776.3 57.0 1,423.9 1,204.9 6,078.0

Fixed Deposits of Customers 382,100.6 223,526.3
Depreciation for the year 1,702.3 0.0 924.0 109.6 1,738.0 633.4 5,107.3

Total 2,673,933.9 1,581,327.6
Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Balance at March 31, 2016 4,318.2 0.0 1,700.3 166.6 3,161.9 1,838.3 11,185.3
Carrying Amount
As at March 31, 2015 57,067.9 47,609.8 8,982.8 1,125.6 5,531.7 4,318.1 124,635.9
As at March 31, 2016 66,789.0 144,517.7 13,194.9 1,257.3 13,619.9 5,619.4 244,998.2
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15. OTHER LIABILLITIES

In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Dividends payable 3,000.0 5,200.0
Wages and salaries payable 2,075.4 2,236.1
Payment order account 13,175.1 15,800.4
Debit notes payable 3.5 549.4
Sundry deposits 13,799.1 4,418.0
Accured interest payable 1,228.7 6,293.1
Unclaimed liabilities 63.0 31.2
Sundry creditors 1,336.0 866.1
National payment switch 772.8 910.2
Unearned income 3,390.5 2.3
Card payables 12,256.3 2,659.3
Icome tax payable 1n9.7 0.0
Total 61,220.1 38,966.1

Balance of 616.1 million Kyats (FY 2015 : 390.8 million Kyats) pertaining to margin deposits pertaining to
bank guarantees and import letters of credit are included in the Sundry Deposits balance.

16. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of Ordinary Share Capital

Shares (in Kyats millions)
Issued and paid up:
As at April 1, 2014 500,000 50,000.0
Issued in the year 50,000 5,000.0
As at March 31, 2015 550,000 55,000.0
Issued in year 300,000 30,000.0
As at March 31, 2016 850,000 85,000.0

Fully paid ordinary shares have a per value of 100,000 Kyats, carry one vote per share and a right to divi-
dends as and when declared by the Bank. The Bank has an authorized share capital of 85,000 million Kyat
comprising of 850,000 ordinary shares.

During the year, the Bank capitalized 5,000 million Kyats in Dividend payable as ordinary shares.
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16.1 Shareholders

The following table sets out the shareholders of the Bank as at the end of the reporting period:

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Number of Number of
S/N Shareholder Ordinary Percentage Ordinary Percentage
Shares held Shares held
1. U Zaw Zaw 562,000 66.0% 302,500 55.0%
2. Daw Htay Htay Khaing 160,000 18.8% 137,500 25.0%
3. U Than Zaw 32,000 3.8% 27,500 5.0%
4. U Soe Tint 32,000 3.8% 27,500 5.0%
5. U Ohn Kyaw @ U Aye Thwin 32,000 3.8% 27,500 5.0%
6. Daw San San 32,000 3.8% 27,500 5.0%
850,000 100.0% 550,000 100.0%
17. RESERVES
In kyats millions Statutory General Contingency Total
Reserves Reserves Reserves
As at April 1. 2014 3,934.4 2,450.0 50.0 6,434.4
Addition 2,151.8 1,238.9 0.0 3,390.7
As at March 31, 2015 6,086.2 3,688.9 50.0 9,825.1
Addition 1,964.8 2,005.4 0.0 3,970.2
As at March 31, 2016 8,051.0 5,694.3 50.0 13,795.3
171 Statutory Reserves

In compliance with Section 35(a) of the Financial Institutions Law of Myamnar 2016, the Bank provided
25% of Net Profit after Tax in a Statutory Reserve account until the account reaches 100% of initial paid-up
capital of the Bank.

17.2 General Reserves

In compliance with the Central Bank of Myamnar (“CBM”) Instruction No. 6/ 1996, the Bank is required to
set aside 2% of the total balance of Loans and Advances as General Reserves within 5 years of the Bank’s
operations.

17.3 Contingency Reserves

The Contingency Reserves are amounts set aside by management, as instructed by CBM Letter Number 18
dated January 25, 2002, from retained profits, for contingencies.
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18. DIVIDENDS

In respect of the current year, the directors proposed a dividend of 3,800 million Kyats (2015: 5 200 million
Kyats) of which a portion has been paid before the year end. The outstanding dividend payable was record-

ed as a liability in dividends payable as at March 31, 2016 (Note |15).

19. NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest income comprises interest arising from various types of lending and investment activities. Interest
expense comprises all interest incurred on deposits and borrowings from bank and non bank customers .

Interest income and expense include the following:

In Kyats millions

Interest income arising from:
Deposits with banks

Loans and advances
Investment securities

Trade Finance

Total interest income

Interest expense arising from:
Deposits from bank and non-bank customers
Borrowings from banks

Total interest expense

Net Interest income
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April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

2,058.5 3,459.6
152,872.0 89,9461
2,57871 20,423.7
25.6 -
180,743.2 113,829.4
(161,801.5) (95,868.0)
(146.7) (859.9)
(161,948.2) (96,727.9)
18,795.0 17,101.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fees, commission and service charge income are generated from the range of activities that the Bank pro-
vides. Below is the breakdown on fees and commission income and expense.

In Kyats millions

Fee and commission income:
Commission fees

Default Fees

Service charges

Commitment fees

Exchange fees

SWIFT/Telex charges

Total fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense:
Bank charges

Total fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

21. OTHER INCOME
In Kyats millions

Foreign exchange dealing profit
Foreign exchange gain
Miscellaneous

Total

April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

4,130.9 3,597.4
470.9 2017
18,713.3 12,206.5
1,287.9 1,293.9
1,725.0 1,272.
72.8 72.4
26,400.8 18,644.0
(215.5) (1,296.9)
(215.5) (1,296.9)
26,185.3 17,3471

April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

528.8 523.7
57521 1,870.3
1124.5 351.2

7,405.4 2,745.2
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22, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In Kyats millions

April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following sets out the Bank’'s contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called upon:

Wages and salaries 14,526.4 8,825.7
Social security contributions 306.8 714 In Kyats millions March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Other personnel costs 2,703.6 1,504.6
Professional fees 33196 2,240.9 Bank guarantees 17,2531 10,065.6
Rates and taxes 11726 731.2 Import letters of credit 30,166.6 8,702.0
Maintenance and repair 1,621.1 1,303.0 Total 47,419.7 18,767.6
Travel and entertainment 742.9 476.1
Advertising and branding 2,532.4 2,459.4
Supplies and services 2,857.2 1,947.5
Insurance 78.5 321
Total 29,861.1 19,691.9 26. COMMITMENTS
26.1 Outstanding commitments
23 OTHER EXPENSES At the end of the reporting period, the Bank has the following commitments:

In Kyats millions

April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

In Kyats millions

March 31, 2016

March 31, 2015

Miscellaneous expenses 1,487.7 1,072.9 a) Lease commitments:
Fixed assets written off 1,366.7 8.7 - within one year 4,097.4 2,473.0
Others 28.3 50.7 - in the second to fifth year 14,736.1 8,775.8
Total 2,882.7 1,132.3 - From the fifth year onwards 13,210.5 4,463.8
b) Undrawn loan commitments 174,440.6 108,586.2
24, INCOME TAX EXPENSE Total 206,484.6 124,298.8

The Bank estimates, income tax expense on profit to approximate Myanmar's corporate tax rate of 25%
(2015:25%) of profit before tax, net of tax adjustments.

In Kyats millions

Profit before tax

Income tax expense at the statutory tax rate

Others

Total income tax expense

Annual Report
14 2015-2016

April 1, 2015 to
March 31, 2016

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

10,493.8 10,717.3
2,623.5 2,679.0
1.1 193.6
2,634.6 2,872.6

26.2 Minimum lease payments

In Kyats millions

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases

recognised an expense during the year

April 1, 2015 to

March 31, 2016

(4,040.8)

April 1, 2014 to
March 31, 2015

(2,621.1)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended March 31, 2016

27. CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In Kyats millions

As at March 31, 2016
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment securities
Loan and advances
Property and equipment
Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

In Kyats millions

As at March 31, 2015
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Investment securities
Loan and advances
Property and equipment
Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

Annual Report
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Current Non-Current Total
597,411.5 0.0 597,411.5
109,278.1 222,930.0 332,2081

1,496,798.1 193,399.8 1,690,197.9
0.0 244,998.2 244,998.2
46,733.4 0.0 46,733.4
2,250,221.1 661,328.0 2,911,549.1
77,433.9 0.0 77,433.9
2,673,933.9 0.0 2,673,933.9
61,220.1 0.0 61,220.1
2,812,587.9 0.0 2,812,587.9

Current Non-Current Total
330,211.7 0.0 330,211.7

24,9841 211,280.4 236,264.5
956,958.0 75,435.6 1,032,393.6
0.0 124,635.9 124,635.9
27,545.5 0.0 27,545.5
1,339,699.3 411,351.9 1,751,051.2
65,855.5 0.0 65,855.5
1,571,327.6 10,000.0 1,581,327.6
38,966.1 0.0 38,966.1
1,676,149.2 10,000.0 1,686,149.2
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Our Branch Network

Z Kachin State

1 Naypyitaw Nay Pyi Taw  111-112, Thiri Yadanar Shopping Complex, NPT (HO) T : 067- 414786, 414484, 414503,
. Head Office Dekhina Thiri, Naypyitaw. 414688, 414699, 414919
Sagaing F : 067- 414500, 414456, 414778,
Division 414699
8 Shan State 2 Yangon (1), Yangon 1 Ywama Curve, Bayint Naung Road, Hlaing T:01- 531067~ 70,
Hlaing Branch 2nd Quarter, Hlaing Township. F : O1- 531046 ~7
3 Yangon (2), Yangon 149 Bo Aung Kyaw Street, Between Merchant Bo Aung Kyaw T : O1- 372940 -2, 372081
Bo Aung Kyaw Road and Mahar Bandoola Road, Kyauktada, F: 01-372945,372943
Branch Yangon.
4 Mandalay (1), Mandalay 602, 26th Street, Between (83 x 84) Street, Chan Aye Thar T:02-64935 -~ 8,
26t Street Branch Chan Aye Thar Zan, Mandalay Zan 09-444027432, 09-33452897,
F:02-64936,64934
24 Mandalay Division 5  Mandalay (2), Mandalay No. 2, Room (C/D 1-4), 30th Street, Between Chan Aye Thar T:02 - 74863 ~ 5,
30t Street Branch (77x78) Street, Chan Aye Thar Zan, Mandalay. Zan F:02 - 74873,68404
6 Meikhtilar Branch Mandalay 149 Pan Tain Tan Quarter, GEC Road, Meikhtilar. Meikhtilar T:064 - 26352 -~ 4,
F: 064 - 26350, 26351
7 Monywa Branch Sagaing 232/A, Bogyoke Road, Aung Mingalar Qtr, Monywa T:071-24115 -~ 7,
Monywa. F : 071- 24118, 24119
Rakhine State [ 2 9 N itaw Divisi 8  Taunggyi Branch Shan Plot 28, U Paing No. 143/B, Myo Ma (2), Zay Taunggyi T:081- 201881 - 3,
aypyitaw Division Paing Qtr, Taunggyi. F : 081 - 201877, 201855
9 Mogoke Branch Mandalay U Paing No. 154/A, Plot 5, Myoma Quartet, Mogoke T:09-402658516-19,
Mogoke. F : 086 - 20016, 20155
Magwe 5 10 Muse Branch Shan H - 6, Pyi Htuang Su Road, Zay Quarter, Muse.  Muse T : 09-47320557, 09-47320558,
Division 09-47320559,
] Kayah State F : 082 - 50123, 51892
n Mawlamyaing Branch Mon 4/D, Kan Nar Road, Shwe Taung Qtr, Mawlamyaing T: 057 - 21331, 25941 ~ 3,
Mawlamyaing. F : 057 - 25944 ~ 5
. 12 Sittwe Branch Rakhine 167, Yu Pa Taung Qtr, Sittwe Road, Sittwe. Sittwe T:043 - 22678~-82,
4 Bago Division F:043 - 22684, 22685
13 Bago Branch Bago No. 529, Min Street, Leikpyakan Ward, Bago. Bago T :052 - 23958, 200457 ~ 200461,
F: 052 - 200460
PR 14 Pyay Branch Bago No. 153, Lanmadaw Street, Kyaung Kyi O Tan Pyay T:053 - 29500-03,
67 Yangon Division Ward, Pyay. 053 - 29027/29498,
Ayeyarwady 11 F : 053 - 29027
Division 2 Kayin State 15 Pakkoku Branch Magway No(78), Corner of Myoma street and Zayar Thiri Pakkoku T:062 - 22801-3,
street, F: 062 - 22820, 22810
Pakkoku.
5 Mon state 16 Yangon (3), Yangon /36, Khater St, Bayintnaung, Yangon. Bayintnaung T :Ol- 528940, 528941, 528942,
Bayintnaung Branch F:01-528943
17 Tachileik Branch Shan No(10), Bogyoke Aungsan st,Talauk ward,Tachil-  Tachileik T : 084 - 51386, 51389,
eik. 51823, 51877,
F : 084 - 52974, 52975
18 Myeik Branch Myeik No(8), Seik Nge Ward, Seik Kan Office Road, Myeik T:059 - 42275-76,
Myeik. 42415-16, 42803,
F : 059 - 42075, 42077
19 Myawaddy Branch Myawaddy No(8/43), Bayintnaung Road, 2nd Ward, Myawaddy T :058 - 51120 ~ 24,
3 Tanintharyi Division Myawady. F:058 - 51125 - 26
20 Yangon(4), Yangon No(27/6), Myay Taing Ward, Dagon Myo Oo Yeik North Dagon T:01-8010923 ~ 25,
North Dagon Mon, F : O1- 8010920 ~ 91
Branch Shwe Pin Lon Housing Project, North Dagon.
21 Hinthada Branch Ayeyarwady No(7), Man Ba Khaing st, North Garden Hinthada T :044-22705-9,
Ward,Hinthada. F : 044-22710-~1
22 Taungoo Branch Bago No(8/4), Steel St.,8th Ward,Taunguu. Taungoo T : 054-26106~26110,
F:054-26112-3
23 Yangon(5), Lanmataw Yangon No(778), Corner of Maharbandula Road and Lanmataw T : 01-218467~471,
Branch 14th Street, F : 01-248472-3
Lanmataw Tsp., Yangon.
24 Yangon(6), Mingalar Yangon No(53), Yae Twin Kone, 118St., Mingalartaung- Mingalar- T :01-8619138~42,
Taung Nyunt Branch nyunt Township, Yangon. taungnyunt F : 01-8619143-44
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Mandalay(3) Kywe
Se Kan
Branch

Myingyan Branch

Lashio Branch

Aung Ban Branch

Dawei Branch

Myitkyina Branch

Yangon (7) Wardan
Branch

Magwe Branch

PyinOoLwin Branch

Tha Hton Branch

Maubin Branch

Yangon(8) Parami
Branch

Mudon Branch

Pyinmana Branch

Myaung Mya Branch

Mandalay(4) 19th
Street Branch

Pathein Branch

Aung Lan Branch

Yangon(9) North
Okkala Branch

Mandalay (5) 26th St.

Branch

Yangon(10) Thuwana
Branch

Mandalay Diamond
Plaza
Mini Branch

Yangon (11) Yankin
Branch

Yangon (12) Shwe-
gondine Branch

120 Annual Report
| 2015-2016

Mandalay

Myingyan

Shan

Shan

Taninthari

Kachin

Yangon

Magway

Mandalay

Mon

Ayeyarwady

Yangon

Mon

Nay Pyi Taw

Ayeyarwady

Mandalay

Ayeyarwady

Magway

Yangon

Mandalay

Yangon

Mandalay

Yangon

Yangon

No(G/78), Yangon - Mandalay Main Road,
KyweSeKan
Ward, Pyi Kyi Ta Kon Tsp., Mandalay.

No. 108, Corner of Bogyoke Road and 9th
Street, 5th
Ward, Myingyan.

No(36), Sa Yay Kone Ward, No(2) Quarter,
Lashio.

No(73/135), Pintaya Road, No(3) Quarter, Aung
Pan.

U Paing No(45), 103/104, No(439), Ar Zar Ni
Road, Myo
Ma (1), Dawei.

No.(64), Bo Gyoke Aung San Road, Myo Ma
Ward,
Myit Kyi Na.

No.151, Corner of Wardan Street and Bogyoke
Road,
8th Ward, Lanmadaw Tsp, Yangon.

No.161-162, Pyi Taw Thar Road, Yan Way Qtr,
Magwe.

No. 158-B/5, Mandalay-Lashio Road, 3th Ward,
Pyin Oo Lwin.

No. (170), Minn Road, Nan Khae Ward,
Thahtone.

No(92), U Paing No(2)-(5/E), 4th Ward, Kyaung
Street,
Maubin.

No(105-D) ,Parami lan thit lan ma, (10) quarter,
(7) mile,
Mayangone Tsp, Yangon.

No. 106, Bogyoke Road, BoTe Ward, Myoma 1,
Mudon,
Mon State.

No.(19), Tatkone Ward, Yan Aung(2), Qtr, Pyin-
mana.

No.(11), 5 Street, 2 Ward, Myaung Mya.

No. 147, 19 Street, Between 80x81Street, Pa Lae
Ngwe Yaung Ward, Aung Myay Tharzan Town-
ship, Mandalay Division.

No. 4, Corner of Myay Nu Street and Ngat Pyaw
Street, 4th Ward, Pathein.

No.4, (B/364), Pyay Road, Tayawkon Qtr, Aung
Lan, Magway Division.

No.320, Thudama Road, D Ward, North Okkala
Tsp., Yangon Division.

No. 801, Pyi Kyi Myat Shin Qtr, Between
64 St x 65 St, 26 Street, Mandalay.

No. 12, Than Thu Mar Road, Than Thu Mar
Housing, Thuwana, Thingangyun Tsp., Yangon
Division.

No. 635, Tower (A), Ground Floor, 78 Str, Be-

tween 33 x 34 Str, Diamond Plaza, Chan Aye
Thar Zan Township, Mandalay Division.

No. 12, Thitsar Road, 14 Qtr,yYankin Township,
Yangon Division.

No-159(A), Shwegondine Road, Bahan Town-
ship, Yangon.

KyweSeKan

Myingyan

Lashio

Aung Ban

Dawei

Myitkyina

Wardan

Magway

PyinOoLwin

Tha Hton

Maubin

Parami

Mudon

Pyinmana

Myaung Mya

Aung Myay
Tharzan

Pathein

Aung Lan

North Okkala

Pyi Kyi Myat

Shin Qtr

Thuwana

Diamond
Plaza Mini

Yankin

Shwegondine

T :02-59013, 59032, 59047,
F : 02-59318, 59320

1 066-22877, 09-444027431~33,
1 066-22878,22879

-

: 082-26857-~861,
: 082-26862-3

. 081-61255~259,
: 081-61260,261

: 059-23912-16,
: 059-23917~18

M+ M= T

: 074-29231, 21064, 21995,
: 074-29374~75

-

T :01-2301542-46, F : O1-
2301540-~41

T :063-28556~28560,
F : 063-28561~28562

T : 085-28457-61, F : 085-
28462-63

T :057-41170-74,
F :057-41175-76

T :045-30078, 31096,
31156, 30953,
F :045-30490, 30451

T: 01-9669569, 9669570~73,
F: 01-9669578, 9669579

. 057- 71050-52,
: 057-71053~54

-

1 067-24780, 24781-84,
: 067-24785-86

: 042-70538-~ 42,
1 042-70543~44

: 02-30891-95,
1 02-30896, 30897

M= T T

: 042-23890-94,
1 042-23895-96

: 069-201522-~26,
: 069-201527-~28

: 01-691825, 691823, 691645,
1 01-691363, 691454

4 ;A moA T

: 02-67001 ~ 67005,
1 02-67006, 67007

: 01-8550718, 8550719, 577596,
: 01-8550720, 8550721

o= g

T: 02-67014, 67015,
F: 02-67016, 67017

1-566731, 566732, 566739-41,
1-566742-3

1-8604902-6, 541925, 542881,

T:
F:
T:
F: 01-8604907-~8

(0]
0
(0]
0
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Taunggyi Mini
Branch

Mandalay(6) 80th St
Branch

Pazuntaung Mini
Branch

Mandalay(7) 30th St
Branch

Innyar Mini
Branch

Yangon(13) New
University
Avenues Branch

Yangon(14) Sawbwar-
gyigone
Branch

Kyaik Hto Branch

Chauk Branch

Nyaung Oo Branch

Yangon (15) Pan Soe
Dan Branch

Yangon (16)
Ma Yan Gone Branch

Nay Pyi Taw
(OakTara Thiri Mini
Branch)

Magwe Mini Branch

Yangon (17) San-
chung Branch

Yangon (18) Yaw Min
Gyi Branch

Mandalay(8) Zay Cho
Branch

Kyauk Pa Daung
Branch

Yangon (19) Hlaing
Thar Yar Branch

Kalay Branch

Ta Mue Branch

Yangon(20)
Kyi Myin Dine(1)
Branch

Yangon(21)
Kyi Myin Dine(2)
Branch

Shan

Mandalay

Yangon

Mandalay

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Mon

Magway

Mandalay

Yangon

Yangon

Nay Pyi Taw

Magway

Yangon

Yangon

Mandalay

Mandalay

Yangon

Sagaing

Sagaing

Yangon

Yangon

No. SM-2, Myat Shopping Center, Myoma Zaygyi
(Upper), Taunggyi.

No (211), St (80) and (30x31), Chanayetharzan
Tsp, Mandalay.

No (122), Bogyoke Aung San Road ,
Pazuntaung Tsp, Yangon.

No(37), 30th Street , Between(71x72), Yanmyo-
lon Qtr, Chanayetharzan Tsp, Mandalay.

No (131), (3/4), damazaydi st, 10 Qtr,
Kamaryut Tsp, Yagon.

No(524-A) , New University Avenues ,
Bahan Tsp, Yangon.

No. 4/5, Kyauk Sein 6th St., Saw Bwar Gyi Gone
Pwal

Yon Compound, Insein Township, Yangon
Division.

No. 63/A, Taung Thu Su Ward, Kyaik Hto, Mon
State.

No. 251, Chauk, Magway Division.

No. 102, Ywa Thit, Lan Thit Street, Naung Oo,
Mandalay Divison.

No. (190/194), Pan Soe Dan Road, Kyauktada
Tsp., Yangon Divison.

No. 110, Room No 6, 7, 14, 15, 22, 23, Pyay Road,
4th Ward, MaYanGone Tsp., Yangon Division.

No 112/113, Corner of ZayaHtarNi Road and
Mandalay Road, OakTara Thiri,
Nay Pyi Taw.

No. 3, Five Lane Shopping Complex Ground
Floor, Corner of Bogyoke Road and BEHSI
Road, Soe Kaw Min Ward, Magwe, Magwe
Division.

No. 129, Ground Floor, Bagayar Road, Shwe Pyi
Aye Yeik Mon Housing, Sanchung Township,
Yangon Division.

No. 52, Room (C), Ground Floor, Yaw Min Gyi
Sreet,
Dagon Township, Yangon Division.

No 179, (26B)St, Bayinnaung Road, 84 -85 St,
Aungmyaytharzan Tsp, Mandalay.

No 69, San Pya Qtr, Myay Tine Ward, Kyauk Pa
Daung
Taung Kwin, Yan Pyay Road, Kyauk Pa Daung.

No. 1948, Bogyoke Road, 5 Ward, Yan-
gon-Pathein Road,
Hlaing Thar Yar Tsp., Yangon Division.

No. 54, BOC Ward, Bogyoke Road, Pin Lon Qtr,
Kalay, Sagaing Division.

No(13), Pyay Taw Thar St and Bogyoke St,
Zay Tan Qtr,Ta Mue, Sagaing Division.

No (480), Lower Kyi Myin Dine Road,
Kyi Myin Dine Township, Yangon.

No (43/44/45), Tower(B),Room No(Ground
Floor -B 001/B 002, First Floor (B) 012,
Pyinmapin St and Inn St, Kan Nar Road,Yangon.

Taunggyi Mini
Chanayethar-
zan

Pazuntaung
Mini

Chanayethar-
zan Tsp,
Innyar Mini

New Universi-
ty Avenues

Sawbwargy-
igone

Kyaik Hto

Chauk

Nyaung Oo

Pan Soe Dan

Ma Yan Gone

OakTara Thiri
Mini

Magway Mini

Sanchung

Yaw Min Gyi

Aungmyay-
tharzan Tsp

Kyauk Pa
Daung

Hlaing Thar
Yar

Kalay

Ta Mue

Kyi Myin
Dine(1)

Kyi Myin
Dine(2)

81-2125541,
81-2125542, 2125543

2-67126~30,
2-67131-32

01-397237, 397160,
01-201638, 296692

02-67091-95,
02-67096-~7

01-2305947-49,
01-2305947,48

01-8605116~20,
01-8605121-22

OO0 OO

T:
F:
T:
F:
T:
F:
T:
F:
T:
F:
T:
[

T: 01-9640134 -~ 138,
F: 01-9640131, 9640132

T. 057-60563, 60564, 60582,
60354, 60471,
F: 057-60498, 60499

T: 061-200856, 200865, 200866,
200985, 200986,
F: 061-200995, 200996

T: 061-61213, 61214, 61215,
F: 061-60463, 60401

T: 01-251970, 251971, 251270,
251731, 251851,
F: 01-252564, 252565

T: 01-652473, 652746,
652896, 664089,
F: 01-652745, 652684

T: 067-433093,
F: 067-433094 ~ 95

T: 063-28380,
F: 063-28381-82

T: 01-2304768 ~ 72,
F: 01-2304775~ 76

. 01-255758-65,
: 01-255768-~69

n-

1 02-67050-~54,
: 02- 67055-56

: 061-52212 ~ 52214,
: 061-52215-16

Mmoo

: 01-687978-85,
: 01-687976-77

n-

T: 073-22830-2,
F: 073-22833-4

T: 073-40293, 073-40032,
F: 073-40641, 073-40797

T: 01-2301607, 01-508104~07,
F: 01-508120-~21

T: 01-508156-60,
F: 01-508162-63
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Yangon(22)South
Okkalapa Branch

Thandwe Branch

Mandalay (9) Branch

Yangon(23)
Kamayut Branch

Bagan Mini
Branch

Yangon (24)
Kyauk Myaung Branch

Yangon (25)Shwe
Bon Tha Branch

Mandalay (10)
Swe Daw Branch

Yangon (26)
Kyauk Tadar Branch

Loikaw Branch

Yangon(27)
Thingangyun Branch

"Nay Pyi Taw(2)
Shwe Kyar Pin
Branch”

"Zabuthiri (Capital)
Mini Branch”

"Yangon (28)
Bahan Branch”

"Yangon (29)Hlaing
Branch-2 (Pyay
Road)"

"Yangon (30)
Pazundaung Branch”

Shwe Bo Branch

"Monywar

Mini Branch

(Chin Twin Yadanar
Zay)"

"Yangon(31)
Thein Phyu Branch”

"Mandalay 11 (35th
Road) Branch”

"Yangon (32)
Bahan Branch (East
Shwe

Gone Dine)”

"Yangon (33)
San Chaung
(Ma Po)"

"Yangon (34) Thiri-
yadana Branch (North
Okkapa)”
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Yangon

Rakhine

Mandalay

Yangon

Mandalay

Yangon

Yangon

Mandalay

Yangon

Kayah

Yangon

Nay Pyi Taw

Nay Pyi Taw

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Sagaing

Sagaing

Yangon

Mandalay

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

No(12/A), Thanthumar Road, South Okkapa
Township, Yangon.

No.204, U OakTaMa Road, No.3 Ward, Thandwe,

Rakhine State.

No. 177, Corner of 26 St and 80 St,
Chan Aye Thar Zan Tsp, Mandaly Division.

No. 97, Yangon-Insein Road, Kamayut Tsp,
(1) Qtr, Yangon Division.

No ( H/5/B) Khan Laung, ground floor, Bagan
Myo Thit,

Anawrahtar Qtr, Nyaung Oo Tsp, Mandalay
Division.

No (14), Ta Ti Pa Htan St, Kyauk Myaung,
Tamwe, Yangon Division.

No (38), Ground Floor, Shwe Bon Tha Street,
Pa Pe" Tan Tsp, Yangon Division.

No (22), Nat Yay Kan Qtr, Pyi Gyi Mingalar, Am-

arapura Tsp, Mandaly Division.

No(416), Maharbandoola Road,
Kyauk Tadar Tsp, Yangon.

No(35), Shan Su Yet,Law Pi Ta Street, Loikaw.

No (1) , Waizayantar Road, Ground Floor,
Mi Chaung Kan (1), Thingangyun Township,
Yangon.

"Pyinmana-Tawnyo Road, Shwe Kyar Pin Qtr,
Zabuthiri Tsp, Nay Pyi Taw."”

"Room No (111), Capital Shopping Mall,
Zabuthiri Tsp, Nay Pyi Taw"

"No (34), Ground Floor, Kabaraye Pagoda Road,

Bahan Township, Yangon.”

"No (1/B), Pyay Road, (10) Qtr, Hlaing Township,

Yangon.”

"Room No (6/7), Upper Pazundaung Road,
Pazundaung Tsp, Yangon Division.”

"No (29),Kyee Kone Ward, 7th Qtr, Aung Zaya
Road, Shwe Bo, Saging Division.”

"Room No (1-24), Chin Twin Yandanar Zay, Mony-

wa, Sagaing Division."”

"No.426/3-F (Ground Floor), Thein Phyu Road,
Mingalar Taung Nyunt Tsp, Yangon Division.”

"Room (2 / Ground Floor), No (301), 35 th
Road, (89/90)Road, Chan Aye Thar Zan Tsp,
Mandalay Division.”

"No (312/D Ground Floor), Shwe Gone Dine
Road, East Shwe Gone Dine Qtr, Bahan Town-
ship”

"No (40/A,B Ground Floor), Ma Po Road,
Myay Ni Gone (North) Qtr,
San Chaung Township, Yangon.”

"No (A1-9/10), Thu Damar Road, Thiriyadana
Zay, North Okkapa, Yangon.”

South Okka-
lapa

Thandwe

Chan Aye Thar
Zan

Kamayut

Bagan Mini

Kyauk Myaung

Shwe Bon Tha

Swe Daw

Kyauk Tadar

Loikaw

Thingangyun

Shwe Kyar Pin

Zabuthiri

Bahan

Hlaing -2

Pazundaung

Shwe Bo

Monywar Mini
Branch

Thein Phyu

Chan Aye Thar
Zan

" Bahan (East
Shwe
Gone Dine)”

San Chaung
(Ma Po)

Thiriyad-
ana(North
Okkapa)

T: 01-8550040, 560871, 564984,
F: 01-569953, 566123

T: 043-65587, 65586, 65588,
65589, 65590, 65591,
: 043-65592, 65593

: 02-67101~105,
: 02-67101~105

Tn

: 01-2305979-~82, 01-511945,
: 01-2305983-84

1 061-65489,
1 061-65490, 65491

M4 mA T

T: 01-8604557-60, 01-544086,
F: 01-8604561~62

T:01-387048, 01-387988,
01-387832, 01-387546, 01-387002,
F: 01-387694, 01-387816

T: 02-5155132 ~ 5155136,
F: 02-5155137, 5155139

T: 01-252825,
F: 01-252805

T: 083-240052-~54, 240056, 22171,
F: 083- 240050, 240051

T: 01-573408, 577590, 563605,
564713, 8550337,
F: 01-561262, 562062"

T: 067-8109572~74, 8109578,
F: 067-8109575~77"

1 067-422562,
1 067-422563-4"

: 01-8605123-26,
: 01-8605127~28"

: 01-525550,525614,
1 01-524233,524249"

mH M T

T: 01-200219, 200355, 397874,
291903, 293486,
F: 01-524233,524249"

T: 075-22672, 22673, 22762-64,
F: 075-22674~75"

T: 071-26231, F: 071-26232~33

01-294727, 298452,
01-299056"

T:
F:
T: 02-67415~17,67481-82,
F: 02-67485-86"

T: 01-8604584-88,
F: 01-8604573-~74"

T: 01-2306387-89,
F: 01-2306390-91

T:01-6914496,9699747,
9690113,9699677,
F: 01-692467, 692071

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

10

m

12

13

n4

15

"San Chaung (Shin
Saw Pu)
Mini Branch”

"Yangon (35) Latha
Branch”

"Naypyitaw (Thapy-
aykone Zay)
Mini Branch”

"Naypyitaw (Myom-
azay)
Mini Branch”

"Pyinmana (Baw-
gathiri)
Mini Branch”

"Yangon (36)
Phone Gyi Street
Branch”

"Yangon (37) Nyaung
Pin
Lay Zay Branch”

"Yangon (38) Padauk
Chaung Branch”

Laiway Branch

"Mandalay (12)
62th Str Branch”

"Yangon (39) Yadanar
Road Branch”

Danuphyu Branch

"Shwe Mingalar Zay
Mini Branch”

"Yangon (40) Tarmwe
- Yuzana
Plaza Branch”

"Mandalay 13
(Nan Shae Zay 19str)
Branch”

"Mandalay-14 (Man
Myo

Ma Zay - 84th Str)
Branch”

Kyauk Tan Branch

"Yangon (41)
Novotel Branch”

"Yangon (42)
Pazundaung
(49th ST) Branch”

"Yangon (43)
Pazundaung
(56th ST) Branch”

"Yangon (44) Thin-
gangyun Lay Dauk
Kan Branch”

Yangon

Yangon

Nay Pyi Taw

Nay Pyi Taw

Nay Pyi Taw

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Nay Pyi Taw

Mandalay

Yangon

Ayeyarwady

Yangon

Yangon

Mandalay

Mandalay

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

"No (123/ B, C Ground Floor), San Chaung
Road, Shin Saw Pu Qtr, San Chaung Township,
Yangon.”

"No(621), Ground Floor, Coner of Maharbandula

Road And Bo Ywell Road, 7Qtr,
Latha Township, Yangon.”

"No(U/64), Pweyontan, Thapyaykone Zay,
Zabuthiri Tsp, Naypitaw.”

No.(U/221), Myomazay, Zabuthiri Tsp, Naypy-
itaw.

No.(A/74), Bawgathiri, Pyinmana,
Naypitaw.

"No. 51/53, Phone Gyi Street,
Lanmadaw Township, Yangon.”

"No. 456/458, Corner of Lanmadaw Road and
Kanna Road, 7th Ward, Latha Township, Yan-
gon Division."

"No. 15/A, Parami Road (West), Padauk Chaung,

Hlaing Township, Yangon Division.”

No. 5, Yangon - Mandalay Highway Road,
Laiway

"No. H-1, 62 Str, Between Manawhari and

Sein Pan Str, Myothit (4)Qtr, Chanmyatharsi Tsp,

Mandalay Division.”

"No (768) Ground Floor, Yandanar Road,
Thingangyun Township, Yangon Division.”

"Block (5), U Paing-4 (Middle), (2) Qtr,
Danuphyu, Ayeyarwady Division.”

"No. (9, 10, 11, 86, 93, 100), Ground Floor,
Shwe Mingalar Zay, Mingalar Taung Nyunt Tsp,
Yangon Division."”

"No(1/24), Yuzana Plaza, Yuzana Plaza Road,
Tamwe Township, Yangon Division.”

No.109, 19St, 62St x 63St, Aung Myay Tharzan
Tsp, Mandalay Division.

"No. 296, 84th Str, 37str x 38str, Maharaung-
myay Tsp, Mandalay Division.”

"No. 121, Corner of Minn Str and Lann Ma Daw
Road, East Ward, Kyauk Tan Tsp, Yangon
Division.”

No. 459, Pyay Road, Kamayut Tsp,

Yangon Division.

"No. (121, 122), Anawyahtar Road,
Pazundaung Tsp, Yangon Division.”

"No. (37/B/39), Ground Floor, Corner of
Ahnawyahtar Road and 56th ST, 2 Ward,
Pazundaung TSP, Yangon Division.”

"No. 41, Lay Dauk Kan Road, Lay Dauk Kan
Ward, Thingangyan Tsp, Yangon Divison.”

Shin Saw Pu

Latha

Thapyaykone
Zay

Myomazay

Pyinmana
(Bawgathiri)

Phone Gyi
Street

Nyaung Pin
Lay Zay

Padauk
Chaung

Laiway

Chanmya-
tharsi Tsp

Yandanar
Road

Danuphyu

Shwe Mingalar
Zay

Yuzana Plaza

Aung Myay
Tharzan

Maharaung-
myay

Kyauk Tan

Novotel

Pazundaung
(49th ST)

Pazundaung (
56th ST)

Thingangyun

T: 01-2304876,500548,
F: 01-2304877,2304878"

T: O1- 254276, 254592, 254152,
254472, 254590,
F: 01- 254846, 254661

T: 067-8108172,
F: 067-8108173, 8108174

T. 067-422683,
F: 067-422684, 422685

T: 067-27061,
F: 067-27062, 27063

T: 01-2303124, 2303125, 2303126,
2303127, 2303128 ,
F: 01-2302180, 2302181

T: 01-2303137, 2303138, 2303139,
2303140, 2303141,
F: 01-2303135, 2303136

"T: 01-9688789, 9688858,
9688877, 9688811,
F: 01-9688787"

T: 067-30558, 30559,
30560, 30561, 30903,
F: 067-30556, 30557

T: 02-80907, 81511, 81974,
82114, 82102,
F: 02-80912, 80913

T: 01-560076,560079,560080,
F: 01-560170,560171

T: 046-25432,25082,
F: 046-25446,25464

T: 01-8619491,
F: 01-8619482, 8619483

T: 01-8619501, 8619502,
8619503, 8619504, 8619505,
F: 01-8619496, 8619497

F: 02-75652 ~ 53

T: 02-76623-27,
F: 02-76628-~29

T: 056-25990, 25991, 25992,
25993, 25777

T: 01-2306327, 2306328, 2306329,
F: 01-2306326, 2306330

T : 01-9010748, 9010749, 9010750,
9010751, 9010752,
F : 01-9010746, 9010747

T : 01-9010702, 9010703, 9010704,
9010705, 9010706,
F : 01-9010694, 9010695

T : 01-566959, 566960,
566961, 566962, 566963,
F : 01-566941, 566942
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134
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"Yangon (45) Bayint-
naung-2
(Tapinshwehtee )
Branch”

Yangon

"Yangon (46)
Insein - Pauktawwa
Branch”

"Yangon (47)
Insein-Lanthit
Branch”

Yangon

Yangon

"Yangon (48)
(7Miles - Sitawgyi)
Branch”

Yangon

Yaykyi Branch Ayeyarwady

Myan Aung Branch Ayeyarwady

"Yangon(49) (South
Okkala - Thitsar
Road)

Branch”

Yangon

Pantanaw Branch Ayeyarwady

"Yangon(50) (Tarmwe Yangon
Branch_
Lay Dauk Kan"

Phyar Pon Ayeyarwady
Muse Branch (2) Shan
Yangon (51) Bo Soon Yangon

Pat Branch

Kyauk Me Branch Shan

Yay Ni Bago
"Yangon (52) Sin Ma Yangon

Lite

Kamayut Branch”

Thanphyuzayat Mon

Branch

Yangon (53) Moe Yangon
Kaung Branch

Lat Putta Ayeyarwady

Yangon (54) Bahan_ Yangon
HAGL Myanmar Plaza
Branch

Katha Branch Sagaing

Annual Report
2015-2016

"No. 338, Tapinshwehtee Road, 1 Ward,
Mayangone Tsp, Yangon.”

"No. 483, Corner of BaYintNaung Road and
Thandinnsu Road, Pauktaw Ward,
Insein Tsp., Yangon Division.”

"No. 29, Lan thit Road, Nanttharkone ward,
Insein Tsp, Yangon Division."”

"No. 28 (B1), Pyay Road, Sitawgyi Condo,
Mayangone Tsp, Yangon Division.”

No. 73, Aung San (3) ST, Aung San Ward,
Yaykyi, Ayeyarwady Division.

"No. 47, Nyazay Road, Naychi Ward,
Myan Aung, Ayeyarwady Division."

No. 2, 9th Ward, Thitsar Road, South Okkala
Township, Yangon Divison.

"No(112), Aungzayya Road, Middle Ward,
Pantanaw, Ayeyarwady Division.”

"Room 102, A 2 Building, Min Ye Kyaw Swar
Housing , Lay Dauk Kan Road, Tarmwe Tsp"

No(22), 2nd Road, 6th Ward, Phyar Pon,
Ayeyarwady Division

"No (1,2) , Building No (D 4), Thein Than Kyi
Car Compound, Muse, Northern Shan State, ”

No (219), Ground Floor, Bo Soon Pat St, Middle
Block , Pabaetan Tsp, Yangon Division.

No (33), Oak Kyin Qtr, ()Ward, Kyauk Me ,
Shan State

"No (46), Zaygyi, North-Yay Ni, YayTar Shae
Township, Bago

Division”

No (A) 012-ABC, Corner of Hanthawaddy Rd &
Hnin Si Rd, Kamayut Township, Yangon Division

"No (142), Aung San Rd, Sat Thit Ward, Than-
phyuzayat, Mon
State”

No (3/B), Moe Kaung Rd, Yankin Township,
Yangon Division

No (125), Merchant St, (5)Ward, Lat Putta Town-
ship, Ayeyarwady Division

No (192), Kabaraye Pagoda Rd, Bahan Town-
ship, Yangon Division

No (1/49), Landamaw St,(3)Ward, Katha ,
Sagaing Division

Bayintnaung-2 T : 01-688786, 651202, 651203,
(Tapinshweh- 655761, 655762,
tee) F : 01-652834, 652835"

Insein - Pauk- T :01-640835, 643679,
tawwa 640793, 640796,
F : 01-640792, 640790

T:01-640726, 640729,
F : 01-640721, 640728

Insein-Lanthit

7Miles - Si- T : 01-652337, 652339,
tawgyi 652351, 652435, 652479,
F : 01-652470, 652463
Yaykyi T : 046-52505, 52506,
52507, 52508, 52509,
F : 046-52510, 52511
Myan Aung T : 044-50670, 506071,

50672, 506073, 50674,
F : 044-50676, 50677

T : 01-8500809, 8500810, 8500811,
8500812, 8500813,
F : 01-8500815, 8500814

South Okkala

Pantanaw T :046-30535, 30536,
30537, 30538, 30539,

F : 046-30540, 30541

"T: 01-8604696, 400448
F: 01-8604694, 8604695

Tarmwe

T: 045-40314, 40294,
40419, 41046
F: 045-41429, 41477

Phyar Pon

Muse T: 09 - 440281251-2,
09 30860240
F: 082 -52044

T: O1 - 371168, 371169, 371178
F: O1- 382053, 382064

T: 082- 40958, 40959,
40960, 40701, 40702
F: 082- 40703, 40704

Pabaetan

Kyauk Me

Bago "T:054-75334, 75335,75336
F:054:75337

Kamayut T:01-5600078, 560072,
560162,560169, 560071

F:01-513148,
Mon 0.3

Yankin T: 01-513921, 513395,
513421, 513138
F: 01-560041, 560042

T: 042- 80453, 042- 80307,
042- 80475
F: 042- 80331, 042- 80321

Bahan T : 09-787899901-05
F:

Lat Putta

Katha T:075-26017, 075-26018,
075-26019
F:075-25712, 075-25713

136

137

138

139

140

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

148

149

150

Ygn (55) Shwe Pyi
Thar Branch

Ygn (56)North Dagon
2 Branch

Kaw Thaung

Ygn (57)Mingalardon
Branch

Ygn (58) Bahan
Branch 2

Yangon(59) Shwe
Bon Thar Branch(2)
Yangon (60) Hlaing
Thar Ya Branch(2)

Pathein Branch(2)

Yangon (61) Kyun Taw
Branch

Yangon (62) Min
Dama

Mandalay(15) 73th
Street

Sagaing Branch

Hpa An Branch

Mahlaing Branch

Yamethin Branch

Yangon

Yangon

Thanintharyi

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Yangon

Ayeyarwady

Yangon

Yangon

Mandalay

Sagaing

Hpa An

Mandalay

Mandalay

Building No.(3), Ground Floor, Junction 14th
Street, Shop House Industrial Zone(3), Shwe Pyi
Thar Township, Yangon Division.

No (885), Pin Lon St, 34th Ward, North Dagon
Township, Yangon Division

No 37, Strand Rd, Annawa Q, Kaw thaung,
Thaninthari Division

No 209, 2/Ka(Q), Kayaypin Rd, Mingalardon
Tsp, Yangon Division

"No 97, Kabaaye Pagoda Rd, Shwe Taung Gyar
(1) Qtr, Bahan
Tsp , Yangon Division”

No.237, Ground Floor, Shwe Bon Thar
Street,Pabedan Tsp, Yangon Division

Room(8,9),Square(84-B),Kyan Sit Tha Street,
Nawaday Shop House,(6) Qtr, Hlaing Thar Ya
Tsp, Yangon Division

No(11), Zay Chaung Road, No(4) ward, PaThein
Tsp, Ayeyarwaddy Division.

No. 19, Ground & 1Ist Floor, Kyun Taw Road, San
Chaung Tsp, Ygn

Building 10, Room no.(001,002), Min Dama
Housing, 3Q, Mayangone Tsp, Yangon

No. (233), Oo Paing(8/A), Sar No(696), Mahar
Nwe Q, Between (37th street x38th street), 73th
street,Mahar Aung Myay Tsp,Mdy

Sar No(6/26), Oo Paing No.(37/Kha), Pabe'dan
Q, Sagaing

No.(1/67), Bogyoke Road, South Tha Yet Taw Q,
Hpa An

No.(11),00 Paing No(53),Second Lanmataw
Street,No(5) Q,Myoma Q, Mahlaing Tsp, Manda-
lay Division

Oo Paing No.14/Kha, 28th Q, Aung Mingalar Gyi
Part, North Warr Toe, Yamethin City,Mdy

Shwe Pyi Thar

North Dagon

Kaw Thaung

Mingalardon

Bahan

Pabedan

Hlaing Thar

Yar

Pathein

Sanchaung

Mayangone

Maharaung-

myay

South Tha Yet
Taw

Mahlaing

Yamethin

"T : 01-618906, 618907, 618908,
618909, 618910
F : 01-618911, 618912"

"T: 01-584039, 8011379, 8011380,
8011381, 8011382, 8011383
F: 01-8011368, 8011369

"

"T: 059-51451, 52019, 52020, 52021
F: 059- 52017, 52018"

"T. 01- 637705 , 637706, 637707,
637708, 637709
F: O1- 637712, 637713"

"T: O1- 557663, 8604841, 8604842,
8604843, 8604844
F: 01- 8604845, 8604846"

"T:01-371180,371181,371182
F:01-375451,375452"

T:01-9648167,9648168,9648169,
9648170,9648171
F:01-9648172,9648173

"T:042-23963, 23964, 23965,
23966, 23967,
F:042-23968, 23969 "

"T:01-2304929, 2304930, 2304931,
2304932, 2304933
F:01-2304934, 2304935"

"T:01-9669667 9669668 9669670
9669671 9669677
F:01-9669672 9669673

"T:02-69150, 69151, 69152,
69153, 69154
F:02-69094, 69095

"T:072-23025, 23026, 23027,
23028, 23029
F:072-23030, 23031"

"T:058-22741, 22742
F:058-22743 , 22744"

"T:064-61112,61113,61114,61115,61116
F:064-61117,61118

"T:064-40802, 40803, 40804,
40805, 40806
F:064-40807, 40808"
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